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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man

BEEX
(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

Jiangxi Lee & Man
IFEEX

- A
(Jiujiang, 71.5T)

Guangdong Lee & Man W

BERE X
(Hongmei, 3 4§)
Dongguan Lee & Man
U 35
(Huangyong, % 5%)

B3 A 3 33 AR

1

PRODUCTS E

Kraft Linerboard I AR
Test Linerboard 5 4 0 AR

Vietnam Lee & Man Coated Duplex Board 2 AR

R X
(Hau Giang, J55T) White Top Linerboard B T 415 4R

"_ High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLA% 54
Pulp AN
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Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

TR SUES

Existing annual ~ 1.57 million tons of
capacity: paper

WIFFERE: 157 & WA 4%

Guangdong Lee & Man Paper
EREER

Existing annual ~ 2.95 million tons of
capacity: paper

I Bt : 2958 M4 )
L7 FE B R Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

Chongging Lee & Man Paper
ERFENER

Planned annual  1.10 million tons of paper
capacity: and 180,000 tons of pulp
STEIFER :  1M10BWA KR I18E NS

|

Guangdong Lee & Man Paper

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
REEESR

Existing annual 730,000 tons of paper
capacity:

i =hE . 73EMAA
R FERE B Chonggqing Lee & Man Paper

Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper

LA S

Planned annual 700,000 tons of paper
capacity:
TEIFER : 708K

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper

Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper

EGERER AR 2012 F£3R 3




CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive director

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun mH

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gss sp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive director

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s /P
Mr Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RNEEH (F)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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(Cayman) Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue Owners of the Company Total Assets
[ ON NREEE ABGRF] EERE
HKS milion HKS mill HK$ million
BMET B BB
14,716
15,000
’ 14.034 2,000 - 30,000
| 1,848 27,609
1,833 26,741
12,0001 11,009 11,424 25,0007 23,074
15001 19,710
9,649 1,351 ,
1821 20,0001 18,677
9,000
1,000 15,000
6,000
10,0001
3,000 5001
302 5,000
i ° ’
» & & & %
\qu& \\& \\\& \\W& f»’& Q@*&@ \&@ \\r&@ \‘5& &@% %0@ 09\0 n9\\ w\% s
§ & 9 & R
0 S S N N S > > ) > N
SRS S\ & & %
Total Equity Sales Volume (containerboard)
ERBE HEZ (FERRA)
HKS$ million ’000 Tons
ABEET THE
15,000 14,598 4,000
13,498
3,500
12,300
12,000
3,000
10,151
8,467 2,500
9,000
2,000
6,000 1,500
1,000
3,000
5001
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A3MALEE
2009 2010 2011 2012
20094 20104 20114 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr THL T
RESULTS E
Revenue 1A 9,649,365 11,099,263 14,034,285 14,715,553
Profit before tax BEAIRF 337,470 2,070,198 1,984,126 1,536,751
Income tax expense FIEH T & (37,111) (236,893) (136,147) (185,302)
Profit for the year/period FE/HEER 300,359 1,833,305 1,847,979 1,351,449
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company AREEEA 302,117 1,833,305 1,847,979 1,351,449
Non-controlling interests RS (1,758) = = =
300,359 1,833,305 1,847,979 1,351,449
At 31 March
W3A31H
2009 2010 2011 2012
20094 20104 20114 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET THT
ASSETS, LIABILITIES EE8EBR
AND EQUITY EE
Total assets EERE 18,676,559 19,710,472 23,074,465 26,741,033
Total liabilities BE#E (10,209,714) (9,559,626)  (10,774,652)  (13,242,820)
8,466,845 10,150,846 12,299,813 13,498,213
Equity attributable to owners A2 Al A A
of the Company [E{EHES 8,466,845 10,150,846 12,299,813 13,498,213
Non-controlling interests S - - - -
Total equity Erea 8,466,845 10,150,846 12,299,813 13,498,213

Nine months
ended

31 December
2012

BE

20126
12A318 Lk
9@ A
HK$’000
TR

11,423,998

1,498,116
(177,098)

1,321,018

1,321,018

1,321,018

At

31 December
2012
R20125
12A31H
HK$'000
THT

27,608,776
(13,010,586)

14,598,190

14,598,190

14,598,190

BGERER AR 2012 F£3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review

The Group achieved revenue of HK$11,424 million for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012 and the nine-month net profit
was HK$1,321 million. Benefited from improved economy and
rebounded market demand of China, both sales volume and profit
margin of the products increased, resulting to a rise of average net
profits per ton of 14.6% to HK$416 from HK$363 last year.

With gradual recovery of the domestic market and the closure of
inferior capacity due to environmental protection issue, the Group
considers there is room for the growth of demand in paper industry.
The production line of PM17 coated duplex board with annual
capacity of 600,000 tons has commenced production in August last
year, while the product line of PM18 paper machine at Jiangxi
industrial park with annual capacity of 350,000 tons is expected to
begin operation before May 2013. It is believed that additional
capacities from the above two new paper machines will bring
contribution to the Group in the second half year.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 58%.
With currently healthy financial status, the debt level of the Group is
considered to be reasonable. As such, the Group repurchased shares
from the market month ago and cancelled the shares thereafter.
Further repurchase of shares may be conducted if appropriate. The
construction of production line of PM19 and PM20 paper machines
with annual capacity of 350,000 tons and 300,000 tons at Jiangxi
and Chonggqing industrial parks is expediting, targeting to commence
operation by the end of this year and June 2014 respectively. Given
the buoyant development of the light industries in countries such as
Vietnam, Myanmar and Laos, the Group will start the construction of

its paper machine in Vietnam, and will help to diversify investments.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

Outlook

Due to the environmental protection issue, closure of inferior capacity
continues in the paper industry of China. In light of it, the Group will
conduct on-going and stringent cost control and improve capital
management in order to remain competitive in the industry.
Depending on the pace of economic development, the Group will
also develop new regional plants. Based on the current gearing ratio,
the Group plans to add two paper machines with additional capacity
of approximately 750,000 tons every year. Such plan will last for four
years, until an aggregate production capacity of 10 million tons is
realised. After years of consolidations and trainings, the Group has
paved a solid foundation, particularly, a strong management
structure. As the Chairman of the Company, | have been considering
strategic matters in relation to the Company including management
succession. | will be proposing that the board of directors and the
Nomination Committee of the Company specifically review this issue
to ensure the Group continues to be led by an experienced and
capable management team so as to maximise return on investments

to the shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong
18 March 2013
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the nine months ended 31 December 2012 was HK$11,424 million
and HK$1,321 million respectively.

Benefited from improved economy and rebounded market demand
of China, both sales volume and profit margin of the containerboard
increased, resulting to a rise of average net profits per ton of 14.6%
to HK$416 from HK$363 last year. The basic earnings per share for
the period was HK28.17 cents when compared with HK28.82 cents
for the year ended 31 March 2012.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$196 million for
the nine months ended 31 December 2012 as compared to HK$236
million for the year ended 31 March 2012. It represented about 1.7%
of the revenue for the nine months ended 31 December 2012 and
was slightly increased as compared to that of 1.6% for the year
ended 31 March 2012.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group's administrative expenses was HK$464 million for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012 as compared to HK$606 million
for the year ended 31 March 2012. It represented about 4.1% of the
revenue for the nine months ended 31 December 2012 and was

comparable to the year ended 31 March 2012.

TR LK e g
REXE

m=R

HZE2012F12 8318 F9AAMH KA R
KRBIEBAERGF DR AE114.2418
BT RI13.21EBTT °

XERPRHEERSEMISHEREA - E
mIEEERFABEEREEMIG N - BIRFY
WK FF B B4168 T - L EFH363
BT EF14.6% - RN EREREF A
28178 - XFZAIA28.827 1l -

AEBHZ2012F12 8318 E9E A
DELEEERAA16EBT MAS
201263 A31HIEFER2.36EET ° #
£2012%F12A318B LB A D 8 & 5
EEREWALNIT7%  BEHE201243
A31BILFEEN1.6%EEM EF -

THEHM

AEBEHZ2012F12 8318 L@ A M
THER R4 64ERIL - MEZE2012%F3
A31HILFE A6.06EBT - #E2012
F12A318 A ANITHREREKRAL
4.1% - BEZE2012F3A31HIEFEE

o+

Eo
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEFNRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs was HK$70 million for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012 as compared to HK$100 million for the
year ended 31 March 2012. The average interest rate on bank
borrowings of the Group for the period was comparable to the year
ended 31 March 2012.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS” AND CREDITORS' TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 73 days and 18 days, respectively, for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012 as compared to 80 days and 17 days,
respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2012.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 51 days for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012 as compared to 52 days for the
year ended 31 March 2012. This is in line with the credit terms of 45
days to 90 days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 69 days for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012 as compared to 78 days for the
year ended 31 March 2012. The creditors’ turnover days were
expected to improve going forward given the Group’s higher

bargaining power in light of the industry consolidation.

1 7 A AR

EHZE2012F12A318 L9 A - A&EE
WA BT TEREL  MREE2012
FIANALEFEARIEETL - HAE
EH)FHRTEENEEEE2012F3 4
31HIEFEES -

FE - BUIRRR BN R EEH
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Bl Rl A80H K178 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2012
was HK$14,598 million (31 March 2012: HK$13,498 million). As at
31 December 2012, the Group had current assets of HK$8,108
million (31 March 2012: HK$9,130 million) and current liabilities of
HK$7,261 million (31 March 2012: HK$6,106 million). The current
ratio was 1.12 as at 31 December 2012 as compared to 1.50 at 31
March 2012.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2012, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK9,074 million (31
March 2012: HK$9,559 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2012, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$657 million (31 March 2012: HK$731
million). The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from
0.65 as at 31 March 2012 to 0.58 as at 31 December 2012.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the nine months ended 31 December
2012. The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.

RBEE UBERRELERE

M2012F12H31H » REENREE S
B R145.98 BT (2012634311 -
134.981887T) - R20129F12831H -
AEEHREEEZS.08EE L (2012
F3H318 19130 BL) r MAFHE
BEAIA72.611E% T (201263 A31H -
61.06(887T) - 2012612 A31HMWA
BLbEA1.12 0 MK20129F3A31H8A
1.50 °

AEBE—RUASEENRESRE UK
PERTZARRITERNEEREASR
EREBNEEES - R2012F12 831
H:  N"EENRERRITEHAF90.7418
BT (201243 A31H : 95.59(8%8 L) °
ZERITEFBAARRAE THE R ARHE
B ARIERERER - 2012612 431
B AEEFERITEBKRKIE6.57EE
7L(2012F3A31H : 73188 L) - &K
SEMNFEABGELR(BEELABRERS
LB EEMRAREED)R20124F3
A31HMO0.65TfE2012F12A318H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWE DN (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had a workforce of about 7,700
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.

(o

1=

S
#E

\

N

012F 1283180 » XR&EBEHFX 7,700
T EEHFMAFTRNERSE HKFE -
TEEFHE BEVEBEEBRLIMS
RgBEmRABE - AEETRESRERA
PEEall - Wik 8 TR R ANE B R F M

+
BR

o

’

Bmom

okt

4
H o
o

AEEYBEBTMNEARERE - X
TREEUNSLETEH  EHRERKRE
RBREENBTHEMNEHAREE - K
SEEEBWBEERL -

BYGERARAT 2012 F3h 13



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhlE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the period under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (”Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the
day-to-day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended 31
December 2012, the accounting principles and practices adopted and
discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the nine months ended 31 December 2012.
The Model Code also applies to other specified senior management
of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s /P

Mr Lee Man Bun mH

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive directors:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive directors:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun are the son of Mr
Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

During the period, the Board comprises of four executive directors
(one of whom is the Chairman), two non-executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the period, full board meetings were held and the individual

attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES  E2RABEHLE
Tttux% ERRZEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABRETEES  0F
RN IR EREIE ©

2 BFAERER
T ETBRARERFAE

BRTEBSHE
XHEERERZABRREARNEEATEE
Z-BRNSILETERNAERBRNZX

REERHM  HTHER -

ExelhEFZ R eRLEmEEE
BIRECWERE  MAEEFVAERED
Bl E =& XXM RAARE F SoE s 12
RWER  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BIRERHE -

HA - EERE
SR

BEZS REFHFEE

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEng HEEE FRARH
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick BRI 4/5
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 885 Jp BB EReHEE KTFHL 5/5
Mr Lee Man Bun mH ES Qb 3k 5/5
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCELRE 4/5
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s Jp BRABIR e gmEE AF#+ 5/5
Mr Yoshio Haga FEEHLAE 4/5
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIE LA 5/5
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies’t 4 5/5
Mr Chau Shing Yim David BEE St 5/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2012 is recorded in the table below.

BUFMZRTESHINEREIZEHES
ERX -~ 2EEFEMR/ERGFZ AR
INHERZEFHARAZEBREENHE
EEZER - WD AR EHHRA R
HEEERE T ZEERE -

EERRAEHERRYFN AT NH R
BEARAIBRARARHEL ERL - TRESIEE
ER2012F B EE LM ARES Y
AR BERBECHESEERTEZ
L HREE -

Attending external
Reading regulatory seminars/
updates programmes

MREERE ZRINFHEEM

Name of director BEEpH EFER Wae EE
Executive directors HITES

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick @A v/ v/
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond &8s BB Emangs Avwt v v
Mr Lee Man Bun mH BB EampE v 4
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEACELRE v v
Non-executive directors EHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong 68s J BRAB R eemes v+
Mr Yoshio Haga FERERAE

Independent non-executive directors B kHTEE

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony ERURAEE
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4
Mr Chau Shing Yim David [EES S
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current
members include:

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the accounts for the nine months ended 31 December
2012.

EREES

ERZBEBER2003F /K
17

HEKEE

BRREE(EE)
FRUR G HE
Peter A Daviesst 4
FEEHLAE
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A%‘.EP
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

During the period, three Audit Committee meetings were held and
the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

A AER=ZREZZEESE @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member REHA HE IR E
Mr Chau Shing Yim David IBE S e 3/3
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FTRURESE 3/3
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 4t &£ 3/3
Mr Yoshio Haga FEERMBLEE 173
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMZE 2R 2005F Ky BEKE R
current members include: &

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BER L (EE)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE

Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Peter A Daviesst 4
BEALCELRSE

FHZEE2EMTRIRK28B.1.2(0)
(i) MEEERAEEEETRSRER
B2Hs BEBBRE REBELER - &
MEZESRRAMEEFIEAMWBEAZ
HEFTHERNSG ZHMW - 74 FREX -
FHEZEemBERECDR201293A28
BH#EREES > TEFIEHRARFHE
ﬁq °

HEETRNTEFZMEE  HFHEZEE
DEBEERAE  BRRAEHDKT &
EMEMZERRERE  SEANKHE
RIER Rk ERBHBE ML
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the period and

all members have attended in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and
meetings have not yet been held during the period.

The Nomination Committee comprises five members include:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the

independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr Kunihiko Kashima,
Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr Yoshio Haga, shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the

next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012, the fee payable to
the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out
below:

SIS A% BB

AEE20129 128318 L9 A » K
DA R EM B AR RN EZ M IEEZ
PR 75 0] AN A &) HNEB % SR AT FE A5 0 B R #5)
N

HK$'000

FET

Audit Service BEZR 5214
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FERRB(ERERBEE  BHEL

review and other reporting services) E{th A 3R AR 7%) 365

5,579

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the nine months ended 31 December
2012, the directors have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made
adjustments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and
have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors
are also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of

the Group.

BB 1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
registered office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERRE (&)

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general

meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TrELAEEMT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and

energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group's advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Water Consumption and Waste Water Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimise water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. More
importantly, by recycling wastewater in our production process, we
reduce significantly the water consumption.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of waste water and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.40 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.37 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in the next
five years. This level is substantially less than the national average of
0.68 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.

Emission Control

We focus on continuous reducing energy consumption that leads to
less coal consumption and less emission. All our coal-fired power
plants are installed with dust filtration and desulphurization
equipment and the discharge emission is always monitored on-line,
ensuring that the quality of emission meets the national regulatory
requirements. Moreover, we have set up the more effective Wet
Scrubbing desulphurization system in Guangdong and Jiangsu plants
which can further reduce sulphur dioxide emission to about 100mg/
m? which is well below the national standard of 400mg/m?>.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.

Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man Paper is committed to providing employees
with pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe
that only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we
can, as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our
management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organising cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough time such as sicknesses and

accidents.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organised a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidising staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man Paper’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou's South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility, consecutively
received government environmental protection awards and accolades,
gaining the recognition and endorsement from the community. To
demonstrate our past efforts in protecting the environment, all of our
existing plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Chongging have
been awarded the 1ISO14001 certification for environmental
management. Our plants in Hongmei and Huangyong were awarded
the GB/T233331-2009 certification for energy management system
in February 2013. In addition, our plants have also been granted the
ISO9001 certification for quality management and Chain of Custody
Certificate by Forest Stewardship Council (FSC-COC), it proved that
we have been committed to the exploration of mutual development
between paper making and protecting the forests. In November
2009, we were awarded the Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner
Production Partner (Manufacturing). Since 2009, the Group is
certified as the “Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China light
Industries” by China Paper Association for 3 years. The Group was
in 2011 and “National

Light Industry Information and Industrialization In-depth Integration

rated “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”

demonstration Enterprise” in 2012. Nowaday, our Hongmei, Jiangsu
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

and Huangyong plants have been accredited as High and New
Technology Enterprises, Cleaner Production Enterprise, Harmonious
Labour Relations Enterprise in paper industry by the respective
province. Besides, Hongmei plant has been recognised by Guangdong
Province as Provincial-level Enterprise Technology Centre, it fully
embodies our investment in research and development and
technology. Hongmei plant has been awarded the honour of
“Guangdong Province Employer Responsibility Demonstration
Enterprise” and “Advanced Energy Conservation Unit” etc. Our
Chongging plant has been accredited as Ecological Improvement and
Environmental Protection, “Top 10 Strong Business Enterprises” and
“Top 10 Enterprise of Excellent Economic & Export Performance” by
Chongging City.

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu and Huangyong plants were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu and Huangyong have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and
that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkEREEE[FN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 69, Chairman of the Company
and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff recruitment,
staff management, corporate strategy, building construction and
public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has over 49 years of
experience in manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the
former standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association. He is now the Hon President Forever of the
Hong Kong Federation of Hainan Community Organizations Limited
and the honorary principal of the Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School
and Hainan Guoxing Secondary School. He has also been awarded
honorary citizenship of Dongguan. He was conferred the Degree of
Doctor in Business Administration, honoris causa, by Lingnan
University in October 2011.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 42, CPPCC National Committee,
BBS JP, Chief Executive Officer, as well as founder of the Group, is
primarily in charge of corporate planning, investment projects and
acquisition of heavy production machines. Mr Lee has over 19 years
of experience in operation paper manufacturing, professional formula
of paper making and product development. Mr Lee holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Applied Science from the University of British
Columbia in Canada. He is currently involved in a number of public
engagements and has been awarded honorary citizenship of
Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu. Mr Lee was the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002" and “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. In 2011,
Mr Lee was appointed as Vice President of China Paper Association.
He is appointed as Fourth President (July 2012 to June 2013) of
Centum Charitas Foundation. He is an independent non-executive
director of the listed company, Bossini International Holdings Limited.
He is the eldest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Chairman of
the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 32, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH, the Committee Member of
Social Welfare Advisory Committee and also the Advisory Committee
of The Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership
Programme, Executive Director and General Manager of the Group, is
responsible for production management, sales, daily operation,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production
machines and factory staff management etc. Mr Lee holds a
bachelor’s degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is the youngest son
of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Chairman of the Company.

Mr Kashima Kunihiko, aged 53, an Executive Director of the
Company. He was the General Manager of corporate planning at
Nippon Paper Group Inc, (“Nippon Paper”, the shares of which are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange and
Nagoya Stock Exchange) and has over 30 years of experience in
corporate planning, human resources, and accounting and finance in
the paper industry. He has experience in various roles within Nippon
Paper, including corporate planning, human resources, and
accounting and finance. He has been involved in most major merger
and acquisition transactions and post merger restructuring projects
within the Nippon Paper, including the merger between Jujo Paper
Co Ltd and Sanyo Kokusaku Pulp Co Ltd, the merger between Jujo
Paper Co Ltd and Daishowa Paper Manufacturing Co Ltd, the
acquisition of Australian Paper by Nippon Paper and the business
collaboration with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREHREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 73, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation) and the
President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university education in Hong
Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his 18-year presidency
at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He was appointed a Non-
official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991,
the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards
2008 (Education)” and the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanity
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. In addition
Professor Poon was appointed as a member of the Legislative Council
(1985-1991) and a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (1998-2013). He is
also an independent non-executive director of Henderson Land
Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong and China Gas
Limited, Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited, K. Wah
International Holdings Limited and Chevalier International Holdings
Limited; all of which are listed companies.

Mr Haga Yoshio, aged 63, Vice Chairman and a Non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 38 years of experience in the
paper industry and was the Chairman of the Japan Paper Association
between May 2008 and May 2010, and served again from May
2012. He is the President and the Chief Executive Officer of Nippon
Paper. He has spent the majority of his time in production
management, with experience in research and development, as well
as corporate planning. As the head of the corporate planning division
of Nippon Paper, he led the “Group Vision 2015" initiative in cost
reduction activities and large scale capital expenditure projects and
has focused on the business expansion of Nippon Paper both
domestically and overseas. The overseas expansion projects he has
led for Nippon Paper include the alliance with SCG Paper Public
Company Limited, the alliance with Yuen Foong Yu Paper Mfg, Co
Ltd, the acquisition of Australian Paper and the business collaboration
with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 70, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 70, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 42 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 49, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has over 20 years experience in
corporate finance, working on projects ranging from initial public
offering transactions and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-
border and domestic takeover transactions. He was formerly a
partner of one of the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong,
holding the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and
Corporate Advisory. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales ("ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance
Qualification of ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), and was an ex-committee member
of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He is an executive director of
Zhidao International (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Ocean
Grand Holdings Limited). He is also a non-executive director of Up
Energy Development Group Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Varitronix International Limited, Shandong
Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited, Man Wah Holdings
Limited and Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited. All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He resigned
as an independent non-executive director of Duoyuan Global Water
Inc., which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, in April 2012.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREHREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 46, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible
for the internal supervision, management of the Group's financial
matters and investor relationship. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 24 years of experience in the field of auditing,
accounting and financial management. Mr Cheung holds a
Professional Diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited and China Aoyuan Property
Group Limited; both are listed companies. He joined the Group in
August 2002.

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 37, is the Deputy General Manager of
the Group, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper businesses as well as maintaining various levels of government
relationship in the PRC. He holds a Master’'s Degree in Science in
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from
University of British Columbia in Canada. He has over 10 years of
experience in production management and in technological research
& development. He was the Assistant General Manager of the Group
during December 2002 to January 2010; he rejoined the Group in
September 2010.

Mr Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 38, is the Administation Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Applied Science in Mechanical Engineering from University of
Toronto in Canada and has over 13 years of experience in IT
supervision and 5 years of senior management experience from
different multinational companies. He joined the Group in October
2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr Yip Heong Kan, aged 42, is the Deputy General Manager of the
Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and Vietnam project. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 19 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 53, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 30 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.

Ms Li Yuen Ling, aged 51, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man Group in 1984 and has over 28 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 49, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 26 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local
companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Ng Hok She Harry, aged 37, is the Senior Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the coal logistics and
engineering project management. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree
and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from McMaster
University in Canada. He has over 10 years of experience in
engineering safety aspects management. He joined the Group in

October 2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREHREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 44, is the Sales Manager of the Group, is
responsible for sales and marketing. She holds a Higher Certificate in
Marketing and Sales Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and has over 23 years of experience in sales and marketing.
She joined the Group in March 1996.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 45, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr Chan has over 24 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.

Mr Chu Kwok Lung, aged 50, is the Administration Manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Dongguan Lee & Man Paper and has over 28
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr Chung Wai Fu, aged 49, is the Administration Manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Jiangsu plant operation and
management. Mr Chung holds a bachelor degree of production and
logistics management and a master degree of business administration
in human resources management from the University of Southern
Queensland respectively. He has over 20 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr Chung joined the Group since November 2008.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the nine months ended 31 December 2012.

During the financial period, the reporting period end date of the
Group was changed from 31 March to 31 December because the
Group’s main productions are primarily conducted through its
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The financial
results of the Company’s subsidiaries that are established in the PRC
are required under relevant laws to close their accounts with the
financial year end on 31 December. The change of the financial year
end of the Group will therefore align the financial year end dates of
the key Group members and streamline the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements for the current
period cover the nine-month period from 1 April 2012 to 31
December 2012 (the “Current Period”). The corresponding
comparative amounts shown for the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes cover a
twelve-month period from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 and
therefore may not be comparable with the amounts shown for the

Current Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December
2012 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 49.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK5.0 cents per share for the nine months ended 31
December 2012 to the shareholders on the register of members on
23 May 2013, amounting to approximately HK$236 million in
aggregate, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Final dividend of HK5.2 cents
per share, amounting to approximately HK$244 million in aggregate,
was paid for the twelve months ended 31 March 2012.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the period in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the period, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$2,104 million for the
purpose of expanding its business. Details of the movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group during the period are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the period and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors

Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Lee Man Bun, mH

Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gas jp
Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors

Wong Kai Tung Tony
Peter A Davies
Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr
Kunihiko Kashima, Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr Yoshio
Haga retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing 1 September 2010, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August
2010, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Kunihiko Kashima was appointed for an initial period of three
years commencing on 30 June 2010, which will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party by three months’ prior
written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive directors and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his
retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.

EENRESHRBEEL

HARBEARENNEAY  KARAFNE
=3 N

HITES

TiEREE(EE)

BB Emsngs Avwt+ (EHEBHATTE)
E QLY T

BEALCERSE

FHTES

ERNAB R exmas AT+
FEERELE(BERE)

BUFHITES

TRIER A
Peter A Daviesst 4
BEK I E

RIEAQRBMASERAN  BEEACEL
£OBRRABERFTERESLERERE
K A T E AR A R EAE -

TEALERTXELAESBERARQF
FINIRBEL  FHHE2010F9H1HEE
S AHIE HE—EHFE BHE
FR—FRBE—FEHIEAEFERER
MF AL IE AL ©

EXREECEARBFTLREE L -
FHIM2010FE8 A 16 HiEst » WF AHI3
FolE—EHFE BEEIN—HAEI—
FETIEASEHEmMBNTUELIEAL -

BEEACESRENR2010F6 A0 BESE
T P EBE3F B EGFE HEE
R —FAEES—AHBEHIEAENEAEA
MFALIERIE ©

BHFATEERBIUIFRTESNEY
HEHEARBARAREKERMDAUNHRE
BRERL -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

EERTBTBAERRANE
BRETHEENEZER AR

R2012F12A831H  EEREEBITHA
BREEZBREATTEARR REAERE
Eafkt HEARMDRESF  #EAX
RARBEEFARPEGRAN(TESFRBPE
B 1) % 3521677 B 2 B M Frac 8k 2 1
@ ARBEEBHAERXZER AR ([H#
R NEBLTMETAESHTELR S
WEETRAIEMGE AR AINEREAT ¢

As at 31 December 2012, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) were as

follows:

Long positions

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company (a) AAFEAR0.025F LKL B

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares the issued

subject to  share capital of
Number of options granted the Company
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares RHEHNBERER EAQTSRT
EEpnE 54 EERHE FPRNEBRRHAE RAEBZL
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled 2,536,710,000 — 54.09%
ES R corporation (note)
R EEEA (M)
Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner — 40,000,000 0.85%
FX& EREAA
Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 26,666,668 0.57%
308 EnEAA
Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 586,000 — 0.01%
BT EREAA
Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 600,000 — 0.01%
FRR ERSBERAA

note:

These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”). Gold

Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan

Keung Patrick, who is also a director of Gold Best.

Wi -

#Z % % 19 B Gold Best Holdings Ltd

([GoldBest)#5 A - RIEFFHFRHE
&5 + GoldBest AZF B g x4 2 4%
%155 @ o Gold Bestz & 3F 2 ¥ 17 g A
HFEREAEIES - B AGold Best

ZE=E-
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFETHAERRASE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BREREENEZRARE (&)
SECURITIES (conTinuED)

Long positions (Continued) HE(E)
(b)  Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b) AREEBEENEBER
Company
Percentage of
the issued
share capital of
Name of Number of  the associated
associated ordinary corporation
Name of director Capacity corporation shares {GEEEEE
BEEgE 514 HEEE AR ZERHE RIOTREAESL
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best 100 100%
8 BB A

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in ~ Br EXFTHEEINRR TE TESUET
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none FEXRARAFERBEBRAFTHE FTIREA
of the directors or chief executives or their associates had any MMM - 201212 H31H » FEF -
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or EZ{THAB RFEEHHEA L BELEAR
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as ‘A 7 sk H A HEEE R AR - BEIR D
at 31 December 2012. HEHFF  BETAERIAE -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

SHARE OPTIONS B

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 272 B8 AR # 51 &1 & 5 15 35 B 75 3k 2=

29 to the consolidated financial statements. 529 e

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share N &R EA RN AIERE SIXN R 2 &

option scheme during the period: )
Number of shares in
the Company to be
issued upon exercise
of the share options
RERERTERKT
BITNEQBARGEE
Outstanding at
Exercise price 1 April 2012 and
per share 31 December 2012
BRITEE Exercisable 20124818 R
Name Date of grant HK$ period 20126124318
HH& RHBH BT 1T e RATHE
Directors
=
Lee Man Chun Raymond 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010 to 31.8.2013 40,000,000
E34 s
Lee Man Bun 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010 to 31.8.2013 26,666,668
R
66,666,668

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grant of  #2008F9A5H & B EE B AR A&
5 September 2008 was HK$1.67. W mER.67ET -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the period was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2012, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

Number of issued

BEROIEZ 22 H

B EX[ MRt —EmmEEN - AR
A HERAR - EEAHEARHKRA
A B AR RN BATAREERES RIS
ERE  BEEFAEBARRAHME
MEMEABRZRDIESR(RREERE
&)MmE -

FERR

BEARRNAIRESRRHAEEF336158
FEZFERRELMATEEE - 72012
F12A318 " THRFR(ZEERETETH
ABBRINEMERRABERARARAE
BITIRAR IS 2 iR -

wR

RAFEFH0.02578 T E B

Percentage of the
issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BECRT DT ET
RERHA 514 EERHE RABDL
Gold Best Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 54.09%

BEERA
Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note i) 2,536,710,000 54.09%
FEHER A REA (3T
Nippon Paper Group Inc Held by controlled corporation 718,515,679 15.32%
ARSI E (note ii)

R HEE R A (5D
Dyna Wave Holding Asia Beneficial owner (note ii) 718,515,679 15.32%

notes:

Em A A B

(i) Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these
2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a

beneficial owner of Gold Best.

(ii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia is wholly owned by Nippon Paper Group Inc.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2012.

B5E -

(i) REFHLBEED  BRTEEBERTER
(GoldBestEzm A A ) MBS - MER AE
AH#%2,536,710,000% L@ H94E S -

(i) DynaWave Holding Asia B B AR K E B & &
WA -

BrEdEEEIN  ARaBIEEMNERN

2012F 12 A3 B AR B D S HE D

ZAEMEMBERERSER -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group were in
the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the
agreement governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable

and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

BYFHTES

RIS PTE 7 EMARRI(T EMRR)E
3131k zHEsl  BUBIINTERDH
RAREREFEZBUYE - NRABRE
PIBEBMIFRITESHBELAL -

BEXS

BB ETRAUEI14A381K  EESEE
ARRZEE  RBEEBGMAEH
BB EEXTFERFE30005% N2l Ik
ELABHBENBERZEZETIEIR
EU2REBHBETARIAREE
b AR R BT A 4 A B A X B Y A BURT B
HIRAEENKEREIZELRS -
Rz EWRA - RBMCHAEENSE
MEXFGMENEEERRER  BHH
BERERBEEMNKT - BUIFATES
EEMNSERERX S MZBEEREE

R WEERAEEMETTRERE
RBEDEBER—REBTIRELEBEK
BT KRB TBERAXEBILE=T
BT ZIGFETT REREEZZTRSZ
BEGR - DB ATFAERNEARRFR
RERANE o
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

$é$ﬁ¢ (IIE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the period are
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these

transactions entered into by the Group were:
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable

so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third
parties; and

(iv)  within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock

Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at any time

during the period.

BERS (%)

AHRAWATREZBERXFFIBHRNER
B BEHRMEEIS - BUFRTEER
B AEREETRERSTY

() EXAKREREN-REBHTET
(i) (a)IZ IE & 8 X R 5K 'W(b)ié?ﬁﬂtt

BHF - EGERE
BRAVEE:

HE
*%
EI
=
8t
=
hf[[3

(i) ()L R 2 (b) M & It & 1%
E E'J&/TLE\,E.%jzéﬁi%_
HRATE 2G5

(iv) B8 K& B8 1EB 180 B Bt XX P 8 O Y
BRLREH -
B EXFTIEEI  WEEMEMRHA

BETRANRERTRERBERS -

EENEREGHP R

BRIBER S | — i EREES - ARF]
HER AR - MEARXFZRME AR
B VNHREIKBAEAERERDAL
Mo BEARBEEERREEREETHES
BEARNENEAREGL -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the period, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 67% of the
Group's total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier were approximately 28% of the Group's
total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the period attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 5% of the Group's total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the period from 1
April 2012 to 31 December 2012.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

ITEEFPRHED

B AREERKEEFGAEEBIRE
RHI67% » MASEZAHEEAMEARE
BB REL28% ©

A AEEAAEPMBHERIGAS
EEHEBEIN5% °
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E=ERE (&)

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has
taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the period, the Group made charitable and other donations
of HK$61,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

18 March 2013

# B BUR

AEERBEETRE  KRETGERE
EEHH - SEFEMBETHEMNEBER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 49 to 146,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2012, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

BENERERAARRE
(REASHSTMAZABRA])

RZBENTE BRI HENEIIEE 1468
NZEBXERERAR(TERR]) REN
BRARI(ATABAIEER]) ZRAME
WMERBEN2012F12A31 B 258 01
MRE  BHEZBILIEAZEAEE
Wamk HRERREZHERRGERERE
xOURFEGTHERE REMM AR
o

EENGRSUBBRRAKENE
£

BERREFARERBBE LG AGRE
B & 78 B 75 B R R B A ARG
BRERBEEMA TGRSV BHRE
UREBSFERUBNABES - U ERHR
MR B M BRI T FEBRKEFHERT
BHHEAERRAL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMBRS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2012
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the nine months then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SAarzmEkER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
201245 20124
12A31H1E 3A3181E
9@ A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue I'ON 11,423,998 14,715,553
Cost of sales $HE A AR (CHYERLIN  (12,652,109)
Gross profit EF 1,950,703 2,063,444
Other income =N 274,374 429,827
Net gain from fair value changes of MEeMIAARE
derivative financial instruments F)E 3,631 1,630
Reclassification of cumulative loss REDRIE B IR S
from hedging reserve upon early BEHEBEETDEZ
repayment of hedged item 2=EE — (15,981)
Share of (loss) profit of a jointly FEAG LR R E 88 ([ £ RIE
controlled entity (“JCE") EB(EBB)A&N (263) 6
Distribution and selling expenses D EEEE R (196,187) (236,405)
General and administrative expenses HERITHEHR (464,047) (605,869)
Finance costs BF TR R (70,095) (99,901)
Profit before tax R 7 Bl 22 ) 1,498,116 1,536,751
Income tax expense FEFRTH (177,098) (185,302)
Profit for the period/year N EERF 1,321,018 1,351,449
Other comprehensive income HAth 2 E e
Exchange differences arising on BERINEREEY
translation of foreign operations & N =% 257,300 388,750
Net adjustment of hedging reserve HERREBETHEE
reclassified to profit or loss BR 2 FRAE 52,361
Other comprehensive income for AR/ FEHEME2EKE
the period/year 257,300 441,111
Total comprehensive income for BN/ FEEEERZE
the period/year 1,578,318 1,792,560
Profit for the period/year FEIREAN, FERF
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEFEUN 1,321,018 1,351,449
Total comprehensive income FEfE R mE i
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZSN 1,578,318 1,792,560
HK cents HK cents
AL Al
Earnings per share BRAF
— Basic =i 28.17 28.82
- Diluted —EE 27.98 28.61

BERAR AR 2012 F£3R]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

maE IR &

At 31 December 2012 #K2012F 12 H31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and
land use rights

Interest in a JCE

Loan to a JCE

Tax recoverable

Retirement benefit assets

FRBEE
nE - BERERE
BNEERE
BEVE BER
KRB R L AR
FfSE &
HEZHERES
HREZHEBER
PEEEE
BRIAEFEE

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE

Inventories F&

Prepaid lease payments HEREERE

Trade and other receivables W E 5 Rk EMIRR
Amounts due from related companies iGN S
Derivative financial instruments fTHELBMTA
Restricted bank deposits RREIRITER
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE

Derivative financial instruments TESBIA

Trade and other payables [ENE S REMER
Amounts due to related companies [ RIE R B FIA
Amount due to a substantial shareholder N EETEE N
Tax payable eI

Bank borrowings RITEE

NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EAERADAE

31 December
2012

20124
12A31H
HK$'000
FTHET

18,790,213
547,912

44,761
264
64,390
52,670
1,066

19,501,276

2,879,733
12,376
4,534,700
18,501
5,084

657,106

8,107,500

561
3,309,327
143

6,378
79,987
3,864,506

7,260,902

846,598

20,347,874

31 March
2012
20124
3A31H
HK$'000
FEL

16,923,134
494,704

143,213
25
9,400
39,670
988

17,611,134

3,124,245
10,956
5,241,830
19,531
867

972
731,498

9,129,899

9,434
3,127,287

7,626
66,159
2,895,518

6,106,024

3,023,875

20,635,009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e PBMRR R (&)

At 31 December 2012 #K2012F 12 H31H

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20124 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FrRBasE
Bank borrowings BITEE 5,209,001 6,663,795
Deferred tax liabilities ELEfEaRE 540,683 473,001
5,749,684 7,136,796
14,598,190 13,498,213

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R &1
Share capital B& 7R 117,241 117,241
Reserves i 14,480,949 13,380,972

14,598,190 13,498,213

The consolidated financial statements on pages 49 to 146 were F£49ZEF 146 ETEMNER G B wE DN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 201343 A 18 H & E £ & #t ) KX # T

March 2013 and are signed on its behalf by: B UWHTINESRERES:
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z &% Lee Man Chun Raymond Z3{&
Chairman & Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBEHE

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

Attributable to owners of the Company

LA SN

Share
Share Share  options Translation  Hedging Capital Legal Special Other  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
Ba  ROEE BRERE EXRE  HWEE  HEEM ER0RE  BARBE  RMRE  SEBER ERsE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk

(note v) (note i) (note il (note iii) (note iv)
(Bizkv) (R E) (B (et (Msw)

t 1 April 2011 01E4A18 17241 462459 29338 1,428,702 (52,361) 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 6,154,711 12,299,813
Exchange differences arising on xﬁfﬁ?\\%ﬁﬁiz

translation of foreign operations — — — 388,750 — — — — — — 388,750
Net adjustment of hedging reserve }

reclassified to profit or loss B A% — — — — 52,361 — — — — — 52,361
Other comprehensive income for —~ #EEt2ENE

the year — — — 388,750 52,361 — — — — — M
Profit for the year FEET - - - - - - - - — 1,351,449 1,351,449
Total comprehensive income for ~ FEB2ENE

the year - - - 388,750 52,361 — - — — 1,351,449 1,792,560
Recognition of equity-settled i uﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ B

share based payments — — 6,112 — — — — — — — 6,112
Dividends recognised as distributions

(note 13) \MT H13) - - - - - — — — —  (600272)  (600,272)
At31 March 2012 2012438318 17241 4624592 35450 1,817,452 — 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,0600 6,905,888 13,498,213
Exchange differences arisingon B35 &R 7

translation of foreign operations ~ EXEE — - — 257300 - - - - - — 257300
Other comprehensive income for -~ B Ef2ENE

the period — — — 257,300 — — — — — — 257,300
Profit for the period BRET - - - - - - - - — 131,018 1,321,018
Total comprehensive income for -~ HRA2ENE

the period - - - 5730 - - - - — 1321018 1578318
Dividends recognised as distributions  B2A% % 2% &

(note 13) (H313) — — — — — — — — — (478341)  (478,341)
At 31 December 2012 20124128318 17241 4624592 35450 2,074,752 — 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,0600 7,748,565 14,598,190
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ReRZ2BR (&)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

notes:
(i) The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group'’s ultimate holding company.

(ii) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

(iii) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv) In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each
of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to
equity.

(v) During the year ended 31 March 2012, the hedge accounting was discontinued
due to early repayment of the underlying bank borrowings. Accordingly, the
relevant cumulative balance of the hedging reserve was reclassified to profit or
loss during that year.

i -

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ELBER B RRAMARBEREERAFT —
REEWMBARLENBRRME -

RBORPIRERMIES - A2 R RORPT A
BREARDERMEREDIRKE - BEBETD
NERMAM25%0EHE/ETAEE  HEE
RELEMBARABRAN—F AL ZELHE
ETERIRTERE

Rl R RIE AN R EN2003F9 8 AEARK
BARGSHNBEARMNRAREEREELARF ]
W =AM BT RO EEREE -

MR2008F 108 + AEERMRME R R Z3E
TR EREZNEME R RS H T10%MK&
= BREARISET - IWEAEFEZERT
SHEBLAMNTREZARBEZHECEERE
@A -

REZE2012F3A31HILFE  ARREREE
HARITEE  BELHAPEFTAR - Bt
ZEEHRREECABEBRDENOERE

250
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/-,r\ Eﬁ%/}lbi%

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

Nine months

ended

31 December

2012

HZE

20125

12A31HLE

9@ A

NOTE HK$’000
fisE THET

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the period/year
Adjustments for:
Income tax
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Finance costs
Interest income
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Net gain from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments
Return on retirement plan assets
Share-based payments expense
Reclassified from hedging reserve upon
early repayment of hedged item
Share of loss (profit) of a JCE
Allowance for doubtful debts

MR

BN/ FERF

;ﬂ%z

ﬂ S
FERNTRE FB
i@% BERE&EZITE

FBRCR

MEMBA

ﬁ%“«;@% BERERE

MTEEMIANAEE
e

RIAEAFTEIEE LR

Pt s A R R X

YR IR R 12 R IR S
REPREBERDE

BEXRZHEEBR(AM)

RERR R

1,321,018

177,098
7,926

463,453
70,095
(11,774)

1,177

(3,631)
27 (78)

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Decrease (increase) in trade and
other receivables

Decrease in amounts due from
related companies

Increase in amounts due to related companies

(Decrease) increase in amount due to
a substantial shareholder
(Decrease) increase in trade and

EEELEHINLERERE

FERD (M)
B 5 R E At BR FUR A (35 10)

FE W B N R SRR

FE B 2 R FRIAE N
FER B BRRFUAE N

FERE 5 R AR O )Em

2,025,547
270,230

746,062

1,273
143

(1,343)

(409,932)
(9,459)

other payables
Decrease in derivative financial instruments 744 g T A4
Cash generated from operations RELBELENRE
Interest paid ERFE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ERFREREREH

Settlement of derivative financial instruments

under hedge accounting

HHEHETITEERTAKE

2,622,521
(179,898)
(96,970)

(13,000)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax refund Bl E TR BRI
Purchase of tax reserve certificates BERWS
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REX(BAERETHE

2,332,653

Year
ended

31 March
2012

Bz
20124
3A31HIE
FE
HK$'000
FET

1,351,449

185,302
9,081

556,765
99,901
(14,168)

4,785
(1,630)
(74)
6,112
15,981

(6)
14,849

2,228,347
(28,951)

(1,018,198)

2,740

7,626

596,622
(8,600)

1,779,586
(192,746)
(74,436)

(39,610)
93,145

1,565,939
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of prepaid lease payments
Proceeds on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Loan to a JCE

REXHK

B 8

BENE  BELR
BERNEERA

HENE - BELREBAER

HEZHEREX

5

Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits RIR BRI SR

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REX(RFARSFE
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES METE

Dividends paid BERRE

Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE

New bank borrowings raised HEERIEE

Loan arrangement fee paid BERNERFES

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING BETH (A MEREEE
ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BeRBESEENFERD
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B/ ENCRERBELZEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF
THE PERIOD/YEAR

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EXEgHzFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B/ ERZEERELZEY
AT THE END OF THE PERIOD/YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR S

Nine months
ended

31 December
2012

HZE

20125
12A31HLE
9@ A
HK$'000
THET

11,774
(1,562,992)
(56,408)

1,619

(54,990)
984

(1,660,013)

(243,860)
(10,145,219)
9,635,187

(753,892)

(81,252)

731,498
6,860

657,106

Year
ended

31 March
2012

Bz
20124
3A31HIE
FE
HK$'000
FET
14,168
(2,879,388)
(22,931)

53,144
(9,400)

(2,844,407)

(600,272)
(12,183,763)
13,627,317

(74,400)

768,882

(509,586)

1,228,116
12,968

731,498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR MR

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # %2012 12431 H 1918 A

56

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr Lee Wan Keung
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and JCE are set

out in notes 36 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.
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B B R M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As set out in the announcement of the Company issued on 31
August 2012, the financial year end date of the Company and
the Group has been changed from 31 March to 31 December
to align with the financial year end dates of the Company’s
subsidiaries that were established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") which are required under the relevant PRC
laws to close their accounts annually on 31 December.
Accordingly, the current period covers the nine-month period
from 1 April 2012 to 31 December 2012 (the “Current
Period”). The corresponding comparative amounts shown for
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
statement of cash flows and related notes cover a twelve-
month period from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 and
therefore may not be comparable with the amounts shown for
the Current Period.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Application of amendments to HKFRSs in the
current reporting period

In the current period, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Asset; and
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Transfers of Financial Assets

2.

3.

RRESMBHRREE

BN ARRBIR2012F8 A31 B H
NEMTM - ARFRAEE® K
FEFAHEHHIAIIBESRARI12A
31H » EARQAFRAEARLME
(TR B )RS 2 BB A A & B B &
EHER B HBEEERE K
NAIRFEKRI B RAREF 2
IREZANI2A3MBALEER - E
It - AEIREDRE B2012F4A18BE
2012412 A31 B 9fE A BRI ([ A HA
M) - HREGZAEZEREEX « i
EREREYE  GEReERERR
M TR RS EREF 2011
F4R1H%E2012F3A31H121@ A
B - FTARREBR AN S RBEIEL
g o

FE R R] RASMERT < BB B
BHRELZY([HEBYHRSE
28 1)
RI|EMAEREBR] 2 BB
IR EER

RAHE  AEBEEABATHEE
gt g([FERGAMAT R
MEVEERT BB T B |G ER -

TEERTER  BREMRE - WEMA
1255 MEE: &
(BFTA)

FEWBHRE SBMITE: KR
HERIE TR —TREEEE
(BETA)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. ER#FFIREEBIT ZEBY
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BREER ([ HFERBERSE
("HKFRSs") (conTINUED) 28 1) #)

The application of above amendments to HKFRSs in the current RABANER L EEMBRELE
period has had no material impact on the Group’s financial Al A SRR A RBTFE
performance and positions for the current period and prior year WM BERARKRR HBERZE
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial RAMBHRERNEBRLEEATE -
statements.
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet B F8 40 1B 18 R A R HT AT R RS
effective R BB HREEA
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised AEETEEFHRANUNTEEME
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: HAREREIFFT REETEBY B
SR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs ERMBMEEN  2009FF2011F
2009-2011 Cycle' EHEN BERNBRERE
WMELROEE
B!
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial ERMBWMEEY BRE-HELRE
Assets and Financial Liabilities' E75HUEFIA) ERGRARE
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date of BEEBRELEN  BEMBREE]
and HKFRS 7 HKFRS 9 and Transition FRNETH F O 2 R
Disclosures® CHES) ERBE K
BERE
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Consolidated Financial BRI BRELR mEMBRE
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 Statements, Joint F105 B1HR HATHERRE
Arrangements and Disclosure F12% REME R
of Interests in Other Entities: (BFTA) #aw BERE
Transition Guidance' 3l
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities? AAMBRELN  REHRE
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 F10% - 125 %
BB GHER
F275(EBFIR)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? BEENBRELR  S@IL’
£9%
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial BEARBRELR  GERBWRE
Statements' £105%
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements' ERMBMEED  ARZH
EARE
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other BEENBRELEDN  BREREMERD
Entities' F12% '
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement' BAERBRELR  An@EEFE
F13%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. ER#FFIREEBIT ZEBY
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂu (IERYKRSE
("HKFRSs") (conTINUED) 28 ]) &)

9840 18 15 R E B H T RS

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet 7
R BB BREER (&)

effective (Continued)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits' BAGHENE 19 RERA

(R20114
&155])
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements' EAGERNE27H BUMBRE
(F20114
&1EET)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and BESIERNFE28H RBERRANAE
Joint Ventures' (R20115 PERNEE'
&1BE])
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other EASHENE1RE  Hp2Ela
Comprehensive Income* (BETR) HEMEN!
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and EheERENE H#EtniER
Financial Liabilities? (BETA) TREE’
HK(IFRIC) — Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production A (ERTBRE BRABRGEERR
Phase of a Surface Mine' REZET) ZHFEAA
—RBE205%
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 1 M2013F 1 ATA Kz BRI Z FEH
AR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 2 MR2014F1ATBR 2B FAIR 2 FEH
AR -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 3 M2015F 1 A1B Kz BRI 2 FEH
AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 4 M2012F7A1BR 2 BRI 2 FEH

AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

60

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities and amendments
to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning
of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and

“simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements
(such as collateral posting requirements) for financial
instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or

similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for the Group for
annual period beginning on 1 January 2013 and interim periods
within those annual periods. The disclosures should also be
provided retrospectively for all comparative periods. However,
the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until annual
period beginning on 1 January 2014, with retrospective

application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 will have no material
impact on the amounts reported but may result in more
disclosures for financial instruments under master netting

agreements in the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued,
including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated
financial statements. HK(SIC) — Int 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities will be withdrawn upon the effective date of
HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for
consolidation, that is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a
new definition of control that contains three elements: (a)
power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been added in

HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

FERF#E] REER] 2 BB
BHEZA(EBUBHRS
A ]) &)

e HEZRH  BELRARK
BT RASAERT 4R

R2011EF6 A BRLZEE XRAZ
4

B BEAR REENAREERA
BRT - BEREBMBRSENSE

105% - BEAMBREERFE 115
BEAVBEMESEAE 129 BEF
STERIZE 275 (2011 F&HEFT ) &
EBSHERFE 285 (2011 F &

E5T) -

BRI EZREMRALT -

BREMBHREERE 10RO EE
GRFERE27R 6 KB R
RINBREEYBHREREN - BE
(RRRBEZEE) —RES 129
E-RBRENEBIBNEBEVHR
EHERAE 10| AERAHHME - 1R
BEABMBREEMNFI0% K86
FRE 2 —EEDIEHIHE -t
BRMBREERNE 105 E 2 ZH
BHHTE  HPBR=ETE:
(B EEFKRELR  (HALEK
BUHREZEMBIPLRNAER
A R(OEMEMEBREER
MENDNFZEREEDRESE - &
BB REERNE 105 HEHS
M BRIE T RIMAGFAES -

BGERER AR 2012 F£3R 61




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. HKFRS
11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control should be classified. HK(SIC) — Int 13
Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by
Venturers will be withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS
11. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint
operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights and
obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast,
under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements:
jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations. In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS
11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS
31 can be accounted for using the equity method of
accounting or proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general,
the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive
than those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on
the application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2012 Annual Report

FERFTR] RAEIERT 2 BB Y
BHREZY([EBYHRSE
R ()

A HEZH BELRRE
FRH9RTR] RARMERT R ()

BEMBHREENFENRRRER
SR EAUEINRINEECENR
@m] o BEAMBREERE 1R
AR R A fIE 3 A - B8 T B LR
R 2RI DE - HE(FE
REBZEE) -REBE 1350 AR
THERE-SELXNIFEBHER
AIRBEMBHRELRE115]ER
AHIRAGH - RBEFAMHREE
AEN5 - KAZHREREZEXE
BRAEERE  ABBIEITRNZ
ERHTHENREEMERE - 8
R BREEBSEINE3IR - H
RZfn K= TREH @ XFEE
HEE  KRAESEERKRZES
RF o i REBEBFAMHREE
AENS AECEARARER
EAR  EREBEFRE S ER
3157 - KRS EEA KA #S
FOERL IR E GRHEAR

BB 5]
BER &
N

\:

ERF12R A —ERK
KRB RAE - HRAZ
BB /ARG EEEE
BHARaNER EBmMS &
B IR E ERIE 1258 T M I FR
BREERTERAMEEER/Z@E °

&
i
=
)
e

MN2012678 - BEEUHBHEER
E10% - BAMBRELEREFE 1158
REBVBERERNE 125 (BFT
R)BERT - LEREFEALR
BEBMBREEINE TRBER
3l e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI REBT 2&ERM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

These five standards, together with the amendments relating
to the transitional guidance, are effective for the Group for
annual period beginning on 1 January 2013. The directors
reviewed and assessed the legal form and terms of the
contractual arrangements in relation to the Group's investment
in joint arrangement. The directors concluded that the adoption
of HKFRS 11 has no significant impact on the consolidated

financial statements.

The directors anticipate that the application of remaining four
standards will not have a significant impact on amounts and

classifications reported in the consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits

The amendments to HKAS 19 change the accounting for
defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most
significant change relates to the accounting for changes in
defined benefit obligations and plan assets. The amendments
require the recognition of changes in defined benefit
obligations and in the fair value of plan assets when they occur,
and hence eliminate the ‘corridor approach’ permitted under
the previous version of HKAS 19 and accelerate the recognition
of past service costs. The amendments require all actuarial
gains and losses to be recognised immediately through other
comprehensive income in order for the net pension asset or
liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position to reflect the full value of the plan deficit or surplus.
Furthermore, the interest cost and expected return on plan
assets used in the previous version of HKAS 19 are replaced
with a 'net-interest’ amount, which is calculated by applying

the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 19 are effective for the Group for
annual period beginning on 1 January 2013 and require
retrospective application. Currently, the actuarial gains and
losses are recognise in profit or loss. The directors anticipate
that the application of the amendments to HKAS 19 will
change the accounting policies to recognise actuarial gains and
losses to other comprehensive income. In addition, net interest
will be calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit asset. But the directors consider the application
will have no material impact on the amounts reported in
respect of the Groups’ defined benefit plans.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income introduce new terminology for the
statement of comprehensive income and income statement.
Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a ‘statement of
comprehensive income’ is renamed as a ‘statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income’. The amendments to
HKAS 1 also require items of other comprehensive income to
be grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same
basis — the amendments do not change the option to present
items of other comprehensive income either before tax or net
of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for the Group for
annual period beginning on 1 January 2013. The presentation
of items of other comprehensive income will be modified
accordingly when the amendments are applied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new or revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Listing
Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the period/year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into

line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Jointly controlled entity

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
thereafter to recognise in the Group'’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled
entities. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled
entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly
controlled entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Jointly controlled entity (Continued)

The financial statements of jointly controlled entity used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
jointly controlled entity are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests

in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and service provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the

following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold,;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is

recognised in the period in which the services are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of

the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

FESEEER )

HE

NEEZGFRERBREMMSZ
— YRR NMOBREE FEBEAH
FORHENRESRENE - &
HER IR EHE -

SEESHEA
REMEEEZHESWARERA
RIEEHEERANER SR

SEER/EBEA
REMEFANRBAEFHUER
AR BRBHEMRSICEEERE
[RBRTH & & B A E A VA A 25 B
RN o

HETRET
EHERRIHEEFHNE &
SENFHERSRHERERBE
RAFORERERERELEEEEE
AEERER  FENMAKE D
DERRENEEHE  KRIFSTE
MEBREREERE - BIRZBR
T BEHENDDBRAKEHEE -
LH  EREFRBE(BIEMEMN—KX
MEFRA SRR SRR - Rt
WRBTFEN ZBETHE - L
RUAHERERN LA REFEH
EEE R AEME

HEERRENA FOER - AIA
RIMERZHENHEL R T
RERE M BARRARIET BN EER
B WABEAERERAEH -

70

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2012 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (&)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front operating lease
payments to lease medium-term leasehold land interests in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Vietnam and are
charged to the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant leases.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period/year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period/
year, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period/year in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme") are recognised as
an expense when the employees have rendered the services

entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of the reporting period. All actuarial gains and losses of the
defined benefit plans are recognised as profit or loss in period/

year in which they occur.

The retirement benefit assets recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the present value of
the defined benefit obligation as reduced by the fair value of
the plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is
limited to the present value of available refunds from the plan.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period/year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group'’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and JCE,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period/year in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends

on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is

determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,

or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for

debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any interest earned on the financial assets
and is included in the net gain or loss from fair value changes

of derivative financial instruments line item in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including loan to a JCE, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from related companies, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets

below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest and principal payments; or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the profolio past the average credit
period of 45 to 90 days, observable changes in national or local

economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all loans and receivables with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGTTEHER#®)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) SBMIAE)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments TREBELRERTE

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are SEERBRTCEBRERIAR
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance FRel 2 &L HHEE - LREeR

with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the BEMEGIEZERMDME -

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrument #EmITA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual BETAARBEHAEEEEFHE
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its HR(BMNBHEMBEREE) 2EMSE
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are #) o RATBEITHE R T ARKER
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. PSR IBR B BITROARER -
Effective interest method BRI L

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the ERMELR B EcmAGEEH
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 85 B N B2 9 R F1)B. 32 B A8 B8 EA

2HE - BRMNELSFERAESRAR
Z TR RFER - B AE B (1niE
A)#BETRRRE B (RIEMA
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and ERNSERREXNERNECERARK
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the BF - RGKARREAM G ERITE)
ERMBEVARERRFOREEE -

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an

financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as hedging

instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. The net gain or loss is included in
the net gain or loss from fair value changes of derivative

financial instruments line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z=20124 12 H31H 1916 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, amount due to a
substantial shareholder and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate

method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

immediately.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fan

L EC )

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 #2012 12431 H 1918 A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions on share options granted to
employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Impairment losses on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as

income immediately.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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B B R R MR ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and bills
receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables and
bills receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness of each
customer. If the financial conditions of the Group’s customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Impairment is made based on the estimation of the future cash
flow discounted at the original effective rate. As at 31
December 2012, no impairment was made on trade receivables
and bills receivables (31 March 2012: HK$14,849,000).
Movement in the allowance of impairment loss described in
note 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2012, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised on the undistributed profits of the group companies
in the PRC as the Group plans to retain those profits in the
respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments. In case there is a change in such plan, additional
tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which the management intends to declare
such profits in the foreseeable future or the Group’s future

development plan is amended, whichever is earlier.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group'’s
operating and reportable segments under “"HKFRS 8 —

Operating Segments” are as follows:

(i)  Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high
strength corrugating medium; and

(i) Pulp
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

R e MR E ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results pa= OGN E ¥
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT RRAImEDBEI D 2 A E
by reportable segment: WARFEEDIT -
Nine months ended 31 December 2012 BE2012612A318L9EA

Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE v AWET E3f &e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR THET TR

REVENUE A

External sales HINEE 11,092,888 331,110 11,423,998 — 11,423,998

Inter-segment sales A AEE - 67,551 67,551 (67,551) -

11,092,888 398,661 11,491,549 (67,551) 11,423,998

SEGMENT PROFIT TEER 1,532,517 y 1,540,196 1,540,196
Net gain from fair value TESRIA

changes of derivative AREED

financial instruments FU 3,631
Share of loss of a JCE JEIL S REHIE R

B (263)

Unallocated income i ar- WA N 30,656
Unallocated expenses AHBZXH (L))
Finance costs B # pi AN (70,095)
Profit before tax B AT & F 1,498,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEe

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDIER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUA R L& (4E)
Year ended 31 March 2012 HZE2012F3A31RLFE
Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEK K HEEE #14H N
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FET FHET
REVENUE KA
External sales oM HE 14,336,951 378,602 14,715,553 — 14,715,553
Inter-segment sales D EEE — 124,451 124,451 (124,451) —
14,336,951 503,053 14,840,004 (124,451) 14,715,553
SEGMENT PROFIT PEEFI 1,579,801 25,576 1,605,377 — 1,605,377
Net gain from fair value fTEeMIA
changes of derivative N EE
financial instruments T 1,630
Reclassification of cumulative A %HIE R 2T
loss from hedging reserve 38 ZR B 5 5
upon early repayment of BEETIEZ
hedged item R &R (15,981)
Share of profit of a JCE JE G FE R I
BEAF 6
Unallocated income EHBEZWA 51,480
Unallocated expenses Aoz (5.860)
Finance costs BF TS AR (99,901)
Profit before tax % T BT 2 A 1,536,751
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the A$RE D 2 G EUR Ty M T 4FT
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 4. MAEE G HEMER - AR
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment FIFE & BB PR AR A F - i I & 5
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of RRBITEEMIAARBEZFEF
derivative financial instruments, share of (loss) profit of a JCE, Iz B ERZHERE (BB A
interest income, net exchange gain, finance costs and other B FMEWA - ERFRE - %
unallocated administrative expenses. This is the measure RAREMKRDEITHER - b
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation MEZLEAREERERSER
and performance assessment. FEFEMERMZETETE -
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. DEPEEE NIRRT EEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities LT RRAImEDBEI D 2 A E
by reportable segment: BERBESIT

Packaging

paper Pulp Consolidated
=2E-3 NEE mae
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FET FHET FE& T

As at 31 December 2012 2012%12831H
Segment assets DEEE 24,508,265 2,228,151 26,736,416
Unallocated assets AN EE 872,360
Consolidated total assets REBEE 27,608,776

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

As at 31 March 2012

Segment assets DEVE E 23,932,759 1,883,543 25,816,302
Unallocated assets KPEZEE 924,731
Consolidated total assets EREE 26,741,033
Segment liabilities HEEE 2,424,285 38,256 2,462,541
Unallocated liabilities Koz BE 10,780,279
Consolidated total liabilities LAEBBAE 13,242,820

M20123HA31H

1,997,109

2,040,604
10,969,982

13,010,586
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) ITHEEREE(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBRREERSHBEIBEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated R FBEEESD Eﬂ%,ﬁ%%%%ﬁ(?&
to operating segments other than retirement benefit assets, KEMEE - TESRT A - 77K
derivative financial instruments, tax recoverable, restricted bank O FIE - LRHBETER - BITE
deposits, bank balances and cash and other assets used jointly BEBURBAMES HHLRAA
by reportable segments, and all liabilities are allocated to Rz HEMmEERIN ARAEBEY
operating segments other than derivative financial instruments, SETEEIE(TTESRIA - &
tax payable, bank borrowings and deferred tax liabilities and NHE - RITEE BEEHEAR
other liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable. RAlEo A LREN 2 EMEE
BRON) o
Share of (loss) profit of a JCE was excluded from segment MG HREZEGIER(EE)BRILR
results. However, for loan to a JCE, it was grouped into Bt ADEBEE - AT - HRFEEH
packaging paper segment as the loan forms part of the net FEREAEEEABRER \*B =
investment in the JCE which is considered as an ancillary to RZEFKBAREH ERFIRE
production of packaging paper for provision of transportation — o WEHBRKEERHEER
services. PR %5 o
Revenue from major products REFTEEMHVBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its UNTAAEEREFEERBOEA
major products: DT
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
Bz HE
2012 20124
1283181t 3A31HIE
9fEl A FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Packaging paper (including linerboard BEE(BREFERR
and corrugating medium) FAB AR 11,092,888 14,336,951
Pulp NEE 331,110 378,602
11,423,998 14,715,553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information
Over 95% (31 March 2012: 95%) of the Group’s revenue were

derived from external customers in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

based on the geographical location of the assets.

WARDEER (#)

b 35 &

AEBZWAMEIBI5% (201243 A
31H : 95% ) RKEFBEINEES -

AEEFRBDEEENTIREER
I 25

Non-current assets
FRBEE

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
2012 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR

PRC other than Hong Kong PR FAERI
Vietnam ialeg]
Hong Kong BE

19,279,884 17,308,399
150,307 259,068
70,019 42,679

19,500,210 17,610,146

note:  Non-current assets exclude retirement benefit assets.

Information about major customers

None of the Group’s customers contributed over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue for the current and prior reporting

period.

Mt SERBEETEBRABREE -

FTERFZEHR

AHIEERESHALBAKER
PHEASEBKAERBI0% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

/. OTHER INCOME 7. HfbgA

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
Bz HZE
20125 20124
1283181t 3A3181E
98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET

Compensation income from HEERERERATEZEE
suppliers for damaged goods 29,612 11,320

Income from supply of steam and HEX R NEHRA

electricity 61,530 110,249
Income from wharf cargo handling LB EERA 32,755 52,021
Interest income from banks RITH BUWA 11,774 14,168
Net foreign exchange gains FEE U 18,882 37,312
Sales of scrap materials and waste paper BERI K& AL E 23,398 28,927
Value added tax and other tax refund BERER R EMER 58,721 125,118
Others Hb 37,702 50,712

274,374 429,827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. EAEEAZAS
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
) HE
2012F 20124
1283181t 3A3181E
98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly MNEERBHEEZ
repayable within five years IRITIEEF B 194,106 196,983
Net adjustment on interest rate swap T 2= 4 B G 2K — 39,610
Less: amounts capitalised to property, WEME - BEMEREZ
plant and equipment BERER (124,011) (136,692)
70,095 99,901
Borrowing costs capitalised during the period arose from the HAZEBEREEERRTIR —RE
general borrowings pool and are calculated by applying a EREL UEEBREERXZE
capitalisation rate of 4% (31 March 2012: 4%) per annum to AL FF|EA4% (201293 A318 -
expenditures on qualifying assets. 4%)5HHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. RMEHZH
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
8Z HE
2012F 20124
1283181t 3A3181E
98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss:  W{Ez AR 7 FEH
Current tax IHERE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R EMER 119,984 76,054
— Overseas income tax —BINRIBHE — 52
Overprovision in previous year EERERE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — P ERERGH (10,568) (3,442)
Deferred tax (note 26) EIERIE (FiEE26)
— Charge to profit or loss —REETR 67,682 127,454
— Change in tax rate of certain —ETHEBRRAFEES
subsidiaries (14,816)
Total income tax recognised in RERRTER 2 BFEH
profit or loss 177,098 185,302
The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its AEBZBNAREBNRRE S
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the B EMTIE - BIERER R
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. EERERACNEGE
PRC [
Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from RABEMNETHBAARSEEHE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) for two years since their BENFER  RBPERCEMRSH
respective first profit-making year, followed by a 50% ([REMER])MF - H&3FFF
reduction in the applicable EIT rate for the three years BU([REER]D) -
thereafter (“Tax Holidays"”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuED)
PRC (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC and its Implementation
Regulations, the statutory tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. Those subsidiaries,
however, are entitled to a reduced EIT rate due to entitlement
of Tax Holiday and/or other preferential EIT treatment for the
calendar years of 2011 and 2012 which are summarised as
follows:

0

(iii)

For the calendar years of 2011 and 2012, Jiangsu Lee &
Man (as defined in note 36) was entitled to a reduced EIT
rate of 15% as it has been qualified as a High and New-
Tech Enterprise (5 i %).

For the calendar year of 2011, Guangdong Lee & Man (as
defined in note 36) was in its last year of Tax Holiday and
hence it was entitled to a 50% reduction in its EIT rate of
25%, i.e. 12.5%. For the calendar year of 2012,
Guangdong Lee & Man was entitled to a reduced EIT rate
of 15% as it has been qualified as a High and New-Tech
Enterprise (¥ 1li (b 2§).

For the calendar years of 2011 and 2012, Chongging Lee
& Man (as defined in note 36) is regarded as entity
entitled the China Western Development (FEEBA %)
tax concessions with a preferential EIT rate of 15%.
Further, as Chongging Lee & Man was in its fourth and
fifth year of Tax Holiday respectively, it was entitled to a
50% reduction in its EIT rate of 15%. As a result, the
applicable EIT rate is 7.5% for the calendar years of 2011
and 2012. In addition, at the beginning of calendar year
of 2011, Chongging Lee & Man has an unutilised tax
credit on purchase of locally manufactured equipment
carried forward from prior years, which, however expired
at the end of calendar year of 2011 and no such tax
credit is available since calendar year of 2012. The total
allowable tax credit is equal to 40% of the qualified
investment on local-manufactured equipment acquired
within the total investment amount and the unused
amount can be carried forward to a maximum of 5 years.

MEB < H#)
hEl ()

BIEFBEPEMESHEREE K
7l - 200841 A1 8 - BB
NAHSEER R B25% ° /M » %
LB RATIN201TFEN2012FEF4F
HESHBEERR SEMBERN
BREEFE ZTHARRLENS
RE - FEMmmT -

(=) I&HEX(EERWiE36) K
20011 R2012FFF - AR
ESmFEMeoxBy B
W EZEEECXMERME
15% o

(D) BEEEX(EERWiE36) K
200MFEBF - REFKESR
M RBIFEMESEERN
BREBRHREESR - B
12.5% ° b4 AR ERIEX
ESsHEmeEmsg  ER
HZE2012FBFr 25 EED
EFMBRBEI5% -

(Z) R2011MFER2012FEFF - &
EEX(TERWE36) #HE
AU ZHEEPAMBEREBEESR
¥ AZHERCEMNS
TR E15% o hoh - EEEX
EDRBATRBERNELIR
B5F THCEMESHEE
15% 8 - AL - K201 4
N2012F BFEBATEMGH
MEEBTS% o Lo EEE
R0 FBFEEYIEEBE
FEBEA B EREZRE
MFRAE R0 FBEFFLRE
o BHIEBE2012FEBFERERE
LB I - R ENEE
HERBIREERNBESER
WERAH R ERENL0% -
RERANEBETAAEN RS
54 o
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mEe

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # Z20124 12531 H 1F91E A

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
PRC (Continued)

(iv) Dongguan Lee & Man (as defined in note 36) was
entitled to a preferential EIT rate of 15% as it has been
qualified as a High and New-Tech Enterprise (& #1571
%£) since the calendar year of 2009 and it has successfully
renewed as a High and New-Tech Enterprise in the
calendar year of 2012. As such, it is entitled to enjoy a
reduced EIT rate of 15% for the calendar years of 2011
and 2012.

Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Since then the IRD has issued protective profits tax assessments
against these subsidiaries in the aggregate amount of
HK$257,075,000 for the years of assessment 2003/2004,
2004/2005, and 2005/2006 (i.e. the three financial years ended
31 March 2006).

The subsidiaries lodged objections with the IRD and the IRD
agreed to handover the tax claimed on the basis that the tax
reserve certificate at certain amounts were purchased by the
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2012, the tax reserve certificate
of HK$52,670,000 (31 March 2012: HK$39,670,000) have
been purchased by these subsidiaries.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments is
necessary. In addition, as far as the directors are aware, the
inquiries from the IRD are still at a fact-finding stage and the
IRD has not yet expressed any formal opinion on the potential
tax liability, if any, because the tax investigation has not
completed.

MEB < H#)
B (%)

(M) REEX(EEALHFE36)H
REGSRFTRMEEER - 8
2009F BEFREZEBELEM
BRHEI15% » I HR20124F
BEKINEE & b0
5% MM 2011F K20124F
BEZBEBRTEMGHRMEX
15% o

£

REZ2010F3A318IEFE
EERBER(IBER]) BEABR
ARRAETFTHBARBEBRE S
EMEME - Hig - BEEH
2003 2004 - 2004 /2005 ~ K
2005 72006 2 R FE (R #EH =
2006F3A31AIE3EFHEE) -
A 5% 5 MY B A7) R MR SR
FERiA K4 %8257,075,0008 7T °

MERAR MRS BIED RS B RB
RENBRAREE —T2BMNHEH
FMEREREEHBIR - 12012
F12A318 - ZEWBAFREEE
52,670,000 TR R % (20124 3
HA31H :39,670,000&7T) °

EFHAE BAR LA REEFTH
REBMNESRELEE - WI &
EERRMA HRHERDEERR
KEER A/MBABINRTEN
P IARR 7 B I R BB E LTS B & (10
BIBEREAEAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuED)

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for both periods
as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for both reporting

periods.

Other

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

MEB K (#)
B

R PP B 2~ AR 4% 58 58/99/M 5 VA
SRMAB - B ER R HRNRPIHE
EBORFIMER)  ATEREAE
STHEERAANFRRPIARL QR
HEEm e

4]

MM E AR AR ZN25%
KGN BEEERSH - R BE
B R BRMIERS HEIEREE
B BMYESWERHETREERE D
ESTHEE -

Ht

Hih BAE &R E L/ B AR Z (@
RIRLEE S RER 2B ERHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 # =20124 12 H31H 1- 916 A

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNuED) 9. MEBZHE)

Other (continued) Hith(42)

The tax charge for the period/year can be reconciled to the HA W/Eﬁ%ﬂfxﬁﬂiiéﬁim BiEa

profit per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income H RO BFEHERAT -

as follows:

Nine months Year

ended ended

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

2012% 2012

12)331E|JJ: 3A31H1E

EE

HK$'000

THL

Profit before tax %%t Al & A 1,498,116 1,536,751
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 122012512 A31HMERH Z25%

31 December 2012: 25% (2012637 : 25%):t &)

(31 March 2012: 25%) (note i) MEBE(MED 374,529 384,188

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR HNTBE 2

for tax purpose 21,961 29,590

Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTOBANT BT E

tax purpose (4,809) (3,988)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNBEENNBTE 3,937 2,604

Utilisation of tax losses not recognised DRAAERHERSR — (3,078)

Effect of tax exemption granted to BRIEMBAREREANNTE

Macau subsidiaries (81,343) (110,945)

Effect of concessionary rates granted to FEB AR EERERENYE

PRC subsidiaries (127,620) (78,305)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE M A EE E L ENMBRRM
operating in other jurisdictions TRARENFE 1,01 (756)

Tax credits (note ii) BETRHE30 (F i) - (15,750)

Change in tax rate of certain subsidiaries ETHBRARFEEE - (14,816)

Overprovision in previous year (note iii) B (i) (10,568) (3,442)

Tax charge for the period/year R/ FERBES 177,098 185,302

notes: Bt 5

(i) This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a (i) HWRERAEERRNBHEFRLEMEZ
substantial portion of the Group’s operation is based. AR Z BTSRRI E -

(i) Tax credits are calculated with reference to 40% of the cost of the (ii) MBI DR ARRZETH B AGE
purchase of qualified plant and equipment manufactured in the PRC by BEEFEEE S ERBRE REEZK
certain subsidiaries of the Company. No tax credits were granted during KE)40% T H - BRI REF B E
current period. e

(i) For the nine months ended 31 December 2012, overprovision mainly (i)  #ZE2012412A3181L9E A - BEEE
represents additional deduction for production cost qualified as research BEERETAERMBMAIMNEER
and development expenditures under relevant PRC tax rules for income R RIBEFRBIE SR RE AP RS
tax purpose in the PRC, i.e. an additional 50% of such expenses could be AN - BN E B AR 2 =250%
deemed as deductible expenses. The approval of the 50% additional BONMURER - 2000 FEFHEHER
deduction of research and development expenses for calendar year of BIREINS0% FUR A AN HA il 2 At O
2011 was obtained in current period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

10. PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR 10. IR,/ FEEF

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

BZE HZE

20125 20124
12A31H L 3A3181E
918 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT

Profit for the period/year has been R, FEABFEME
arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments ik 4,590 12,240
Staff salaries and other benefits, BETHe REMER -

excluding those of directors TEEES 423,150 497,342
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRBRET S

schemes, excluding those of directors TREES 37,632 41,159
Total employee benefit expense REGMALA%E 465,372 550,741
Auditor’s remuneration %8R Bl & 5,214 4,660
Cost of inventories recognised FERAER AT H

as expense 9,473,295 12,652,109
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  FE /< 1 & 318 5 4 7,926 9,081
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEIERBITE

equipment 463,453 556,765
Total depreciation and amortisation WENRBHERE 471,379 565,846

Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - EE L RiE2 EE

equipment 4,785
Operating lease rentals in respect of THEREFHLEHERS

land and buildings 5,315
Allowance for doubtful debts RIFREE 14,849
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

11. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EBRFETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (Year ENSENTAUEEREZTH
ended 31 March 2012: nine) directors and the chief executive AB(EZE2012F3A831H1E : L)
were as follows: M mT

Other emoluments

HitM <

Contributions
Salaries  to retirement

and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees FeR BHREA REX A Total
ik H @Al SHEIMR E ] &%
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Nine months ended EZE2012F12A318
31 December 2012 1918 A
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FEH
Lee Man Chun Raymond £
Lee Man Bun ey
Kunihiko Kashima BEALE
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERK
Yoshio Haga FBREE
Independent non-executive directors BUFHNTESE
Wong Kai Tung Tony TR
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies
Chau Shing Yim David BER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EBERFTETBRAEME (8)
EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)
Mr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chief Executive of the ENEEERARNFNEZITHA
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those B LR WeaEEIERE
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive. EITHABMREHORE 2B -
Other emoluments
Hib B
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees ek RKEF [ A S 1+ Total
e H 42 BEITA KA A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FaET FHET FHT FHT FHET
Year ended 31 March 2012 201263318 ILFE
Executive directors HITEF
Lee Wan Keung Patrick ENE o — — — —
Lee Man Chun Raymond EE 1,487 1,873 4 3,667 7,031
Lee Man Bun F X, 687 1,473 4 2,445 4,609
Kunihiko Kashima BEEBALE — — — — —
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERAE — — — — —
Yoshio Haga FERE — — — — —

Independent non-executive directors BUIHTEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony TRE 200 — — — 200
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200 — — — 200
Chau Shing Yim David FEEA 200 — — — 200
2,774 3,346 8 6,112 12,240
For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 and the year HZE2012F12A31BIL9EA AR
ended 31 March 2012, no emoluments were paid by the HZE2012F3831HEFER » &
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining SEYEZNEMME TESER
the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. No directors FEEMA L INAARE EE kKL
waived any emoluments during these periods. EWAEZHE - EHERETM

EEmENSE -
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e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

12. EEME

rEEBZaMEzAMAL  EF
WAL (B E2012F3A31BLEFE -
M) BAARESMEMESER L
MMEEIEE c HBR= AT (BZE
20123 A31HIEFE « =f1) 2B
(N

12. EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (Year ended 31 March 2012: two) were directors
of the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in note 11 above. The emoluments of the remaining
three (Year ended 31 March 2012: three) individuals were as
follows:

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

Bz HZE

20125 20124

12A31H1E 3A31ALE

98 A FE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAET

Salaries and other benefits e MEMmET 5,059 6,986
Contributions to retirement benefit RKE A GBI K

schemes 11 26

7,012

The emoluments were within the following bands:

EEMMENF T IIAER

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,000,001 75— 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001/ 7T —2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/%7c —2,500,0007% 7T
2,500,001#7C—3,000,000/& 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

13. DIVIDENDS 13. BE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
Bz HZE
20125 20124
1283181t 3A3181E
98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Dividends recognised as distribution: BREDKRZEE
Final dividend of HK$0.052 in respect HZE201293A3181
of the year ended 31 March 2012 FERPRETR0.052%8 T
(Final dividend of HK$0.080 in (BlZ20114F3A3181E
respect of the year ended 31 March FERERKREF0.080%T)
2011) per share 243,860 375,170
Interim dividend of HK$0.050 in respect & Z2012%F12H31H 1k
of the period ended 31 December HifEI A B B G 1%0.05078 7T
2012 (Interim dividend of HK$0.048 (Bl E2012F3A3181E
in respect of the year ended 31 March ~ F [Z /R #% 8 & %0.048/8 L)
2011) per share 234,481 225,102
478,341 600,272

A final dividend of HK$0.050 per share in respect of the nine
months ended 31 December 2012 (Year ended 31 March
2012: final dividend of HK$0.052 per share in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2012) has been proposed by the directors
and is subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

BEEEFREEHZ2012F12A31H
1E9fE A 2 REAR S & #%0.050/8 T
(BE2012F3A31RILFE : 8F
2012F3A3MBIEFE 2 RBARKRE
BR0.05287T) @ HARFREERE
[E R R KA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. SREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AARBMBEANERERNR#EER
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the FTIA TN R E T E -

following data:

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
BE BZE
201245 20124
12A318 1 3A31H1E
98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Earnings for the purpose of basic and BUHESRELRR
diluted earnings per share EERF BT 1,321,018 1,351,449
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
BE BE
20124 20124
12A31H 1 3A3181E
98 A FE
Number of Number of
Shares Shares
ROBE M fn &2
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG ESRERE K
shares for the purpose of basic TR IE T
earnings per share LRI RICEIES 4,689,622,980
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: E@EREE#HETE -
Share options iR 32,460,064 33,722,957
Weighted average number of ordinary AUATESRE SR EER
shares for the purpose of diluted I 19 2L
earnings per share LPRPRERIEES 4 773,345,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

e i >
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. M1%¥ - BERZ®E
Furniture,
fixturesand
Computer equipment Leasehold Plantand  Construction
Buildings system M B improvements Motorvehicles machinery inprogress Total
EF ERZE  ZERRE RENEEE RE  BERES HEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T Fitn Fin T Fitn T T
costT RA
At 1 April 2011 201154818 2,880,659 24,304 350,048 440,699 51,106 10,227,887 2,334,713 16,309,416
Exchange realignment  E X B384 72,192 2 9979 10,117 1,141 254,603 41,162 389,196
Additions HhE 17,113 995 12,492 9,944 10,480 63,085 3,142,539 3,256,648
Transfers ] 258,610 — 69,466 18,523 — 1,454,687 (1,801,286) —
Disposalsfwritten off e/ Wk - - (1,961) (115) (3,558) (55,708) (2,931) (64,273)
At 31 March 2012 2012934318 3,228,574 25,301 440,024 479,168 59,169 11,944,554 3,714,197 19,890,987
Exchange realignment EREHNAA 44,%1 1 5,693 6,055 606 170,685 41,554 269,555
Additions RE 11,215 — 20,034 1,327 7,038 52,373 2,012,111 2,104,098
Transfers &3 533313 — 12,840 14,288 — 2,245,101 (2,805,542) —
Disposals/written off HeE /W — — (1,266) — (7,675) (2,965) — (11,906)
At 31 December 2012 20129128318 3,818,063 25,302 471,325 500,838 59,138 14,409,748 2,962,320 22,252,734
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2011 2011F47318 536,786 9,932 134,749 101,239 36,017 1,537,588 - 2,356,311
Exchange realignment EREHMAA 13,727 2 3,741 2,565 734 40,352 — 61,121
Provided for the year EREE 133,290 2,533 58,739 22,631 5278 334,294 — 556,765
Eliminated on disposals/ & /# 8 E 44
written off — — (1,720) (115) (3,196) (1313) — (6,344)
At 31 March 2012 2012934318 683,803 12,467 195,509 126,320 38,833 1,910,921 — 2,967,853
Exchange realignment EREHNAR 9,49 - 2,641 1,706 369 26,113 — 40,325
Provided for the period BREE 114,065 1,894 30,856 18,075 3,998 294,565 — 463,453
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#iBEE i
written off - — (1,104) - (6,771) (1,235 - (9,110
At 31 December 2012 2012€12A318 807,364 14,361 227,902 146,101 36,429 2,230,364 — 3,462,521
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2012 2012€12A318 3,010,699 10,941 249,423 354,737 22,709 12,179,384 2,962,320 18,790,213
At 31 March 2012 2012934318 2,544,771 12,834 244,515 352,848 20,336 10,033,633 3,714,197 16,923,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

The carrying values of buildings of the Group comprises:

15. ¥ - MERKE#)

i)
@)

2y

FEBZETFREBERE

AR EIAR HIR SR
i EZIEF

Buildings on lands under medium-term lease
in the PRC

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

20125 20124
124311 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAET
2,947,128 2,544,771

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC with
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2012, the carrying value of such buildings
was HK$922,964,000 (31 March 2012: HK$644,227,000). In the opinion
of directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course.

As disclosed in note 32, certain portions of the buildings have been leased
to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as investment
properties as the leased portions could not be sold separately and a
significant portion of the buildings is held for use in the production or for
administrative purposes.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer system 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% - 15%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 3% - 20%

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

SEAEETRFERAMAETER
FRXEAEE2FPE LM E - 7K2012
F12A318 ZEEF2HREER
922,964,000 7T (201293 A318 -
644,227,00087T) - EERARRZ
ERFEABARITTEREEEAE
BFEE BARNEEHDXFRBGHE
BEZE TR IRERRRBREXES
EOEAmMKE e M TE
W ERNMBEETABREEGER
FHEEFZEXNEAE -

WM 32T - BFEREFHHEA
T—BEAL - ZEEFROERKE
¥ RHEEHATEEBLEE &
BFRAREMIHEERIEEESITHA

BAERTIZIN  WE - BFE RREE
REBEFRSEER  REFARED
LAE o5 EHRIT B AMUEE A AR - R 40
T

B 5%
BISE & 10%
G BEEE REE 20%
HEWMEEE 5%-15%
A= 20%
B 3'3%-20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FENHERIE
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands AEEENHEFAREHRHHEE
held under medium-term leases located in: HTRZHEEI AR

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

20124 20124

128318 3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHER FHEIT

PRC H 514,629 459,933
Vietnam i 45,659 45,727

560,288 505,660
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ks AEmIEZ D
Non-current asset FEREEE 547,912 494,704
Current asset RENEE 12,376 10,956
560,288 505,660
As at 31 December 2012, the carrying value of land use rights M2012412 8310 - £EEREET
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal EXEAEz T MEREZRAE
title of ownership was HK$67,656,000 (31 March 2012: #67,656,000/%8 7T (2012 4 3 A 31
HK$87,622,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence H :87,622,0008 L) - EERARK
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value RS T EAREXEERLT
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid CTHEESEEEDEEBE ARR
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land rights SR TARBOBEZ T HE
and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an RERARRIEX A RENIESHM
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that WE e M TEM - EF
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the THEHEETABKREEGER TZ
Group in due course. SR EEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

17.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights are disclosed in note 33.

BEYE BERREBRL
o FRHEFTYRT &

T eRASE AT HEERE
MEBENWE  BE MEERLH
FEREMNE BEVE BEX
BEAR THERAENERAAED
M EE33HFE -

18. INTEREST IN A JCE 18. HEEHIERER
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
2012%F 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Cost of investments BEKAR - _
Share of (loss) profit FE1G (B 1R) B 7 (257) 6
Translation of a JCE HRAZEHERHRE 521 19
25
Loan to a JCE (note iii) H[F B 58 & 5 (P aEiii) 64,390 9,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

18. INTEREST IN A JCE (conminueD)

notes:

(U]

Details of the Group’s JCE and its subsidiary at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

18.

FEE -

HEEHEEERS#)

()  ABREMRAEEAREHEERE
MERRFBEMT

Place of Issued and fully Proportion of issued
Name of JCE and Incorporation paid share capital/ and fully paid up
its subsidiary and operations registered capital capital held
HEZHERR RUREE®RYE BROTRBERE BHEERTR Principal Activity
HEHMBARER HMMER BEBRALLA E-E371
Directly Indirectly
HiE [SEE3
JCE:
SFEHIER -
Southern Hill Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 50% — Investment holding
FIEHRAR BB — HK$2 REZER
Tk — 287
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
HItB AT -
HERXYRERAR PRC Registered capital — 50%  Provision of port facilities
(Ruichang Lee & Man g — US$12,000,000 SR O R
Logistics Company Limited) EREZZN
— 12,000,0003 7T
(i) The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of the (i) FBALAEEAREHER 2 GEMBE

Group's interest in the JCE which are accounted for using the equity BB EREAR  BEOT :

method is set out below:

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

20124 20124F

12A31H 3H31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Non-current assets FEMENEE 59,846 3,855
Current assets mENEE 5,208 6,216
Non-current liabilities ERBasE (64,390) (9,400)
Current liabilities mEBAE (400) (646)
Net assets of the JCE HEESERFEE 264 25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

18. INTEREST IN A JCE (conTinuED) 18. HREIZEHERER &)
notes: (Continued) B« (48)
(i) (Continued) (i) (%)
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
#HE H=E
20125 20124
12A31HLE 3A3181E
9@ A FE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FT
Other income H U A 212 16
Expenses S (475) (10)
(Loss) profit for the period/year R, FE (EiE) &2F) (263) 6
@iy ~ The loan is provided to the JCE in the from of a shareholder’s loan and it (i) ZEEFUARFEEREARES LRE

forms part of the net investment in the JCE. The amount is unsecured,
interest-free and no fixed repayment term but the settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

19. INVENTORIES 19. #&

Raw materials R
Finished goods K

HEEKAAREHERFREN
Do ZEEDEER R REETE
E HEEENRRES S BRBA
BEER TR MM AL

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20125 20124
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
2,250,345 2,518,015
629,388 606,230

2,879,733 3,124,245
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBmRMWE (F)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BEIREZ R HMIRM
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20124 20124
12H31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Trade receivables EIWE FED 2,119,318 2,102,577
Less: allowance for doubtful debt B RIBREE — (14,849)

2,119,318 2,087,728
Bills receivables EWER 1,202,941 1,944,808

3,322,259 4,032,536

Prepayments and deposits for BERBENTEBERE €
purchase of raw materials 546,381 559,515
Other deposits and prepayments HibzTe MFER A 95,321 115,533
VAT receivables JEYIEE R FKIE 429,716 426,565
Other receivables H b fE UG FRIB 141,023 107,681

4,534,700 5,241,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conminvuep)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates.

200 EWESZ R HMERK (&)

AEERENEMAFTLR - S h%

BEEEFPNEREERATHEEER
B GEHEERSRTREETHREN
BF  BEPEERETHMTURS - A
SEETEPNTHERSARAHE
90H - U T RMEMAIZERAH(A
EREENBAERESR) 2 ZRKE
ZEREZRORE DT

Aged: BRie
Less than 30 days DH30H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 1208 £

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
201245 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
2,454,134 3,345,194
671,911 563,536
120,081 81,818
29,277 23,194
46,856 18,794
3,322,259 4,032,536

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$76,133,000 (31 March 2012:
HK$41,988,000) which were past due at the reporting date but for which
the Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered
such balances could be recovered based on historical experience. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The directors
consider all trade receivables (other than those for which impairment
losses have been recognised) at the end of the reporting date are of good
credit quality with reference to the track records of these customers under
internal assessment by the Group.

(if)

AEERWKE HEREHPRIERT

4 #£76,133,000 75 (201243 A 31
H : 41,988,000/ 7T ) & FE UK B 5 BR 3K
RHREBARDEEH  EAEERBR
BRTKR  ZEEBREATAMKE -
TR EFIBREE - AEELE
RZEEBBFETMERR - TAEH
RIEZERT PO EELCEIELNAIET
G EERAEREHATBERRES
R (ST HRBFBAEBERNRIN G A
BERIFEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES contivuep)  20. BIRE B R H AR (42)

notes: (Continued) B« (48)
(i) (Continued) (i (&)
Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired BHERNRBENERE S RO KRR

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

201245 20124

12A31H 3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

91-120 days 91—120H 29,277 23,194
Over 120 days 1206 £ 46,856 18,794

[ AEE] 41,988

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIERBEERS

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

8= H=E

20125 20124

12A31H1E 3A3181E

9fE A FE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

At 1 April H4A1H 14,849 —

Impairment losses recognised on receivables B RN BRI 2 R EE B — 14,849

Amounts written off as uncollectible LI B & RE AR (14,849) —

At 31 March/December ®3A,712A318 14,849
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired REGRELERAENERSERIEE
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$14,849,000 relating MR EWE S ERFORE I ERER
to debtor as at 31 March 2012 which have either been placed under R2012F3A31BHMBEBAEL - &5
liquidation or are in severe financial difficulties. No allowance for doubtful £ %814,849,000% JC o 7 HA A A7 48 5t

debts were provided during current period. RRBREAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conminuep) 20. EWE S REMBRR (#)
notes: (Continued) MieE : (48)
(i) Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WIHAEFHREEEREEEAENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: e S REMBRRAT :
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20124 20124
124318 38318
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
HKS T 240,741 234,863
United States dollars (“US$") ZEo([Uuss)) 19,185 29,512
21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 21 EW(S)BEEQARAREER
COMPANIES AND A SUBSTANTIAL R
SHAREHOLDER
The amounts due from related companies represent trade JE U2 B8 38 A R SR IE T E WUT AR 32 3
balances due from Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited {ETHERAR(NHIEIETI]) Klee
("Jiangsu Chemical”) and Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing & Man Industrial Manufacturing
Limited (“LMIML"), both of which are beneficially owned and Limited([BEXEE|)NE S &%
controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director and the MERBDBHRRRIES R&EK
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, and his TRBRRFERLERALZZER
daughter, respectively. WA Rz -
The amount due to a substantial shareholder represent trade ERNEERRRBIENARRAFE
balance due to Nippon Paper Group Inc. (“Nippon Paper”), a ERFARBAEE([BARAK])
substantial shareholder of the Company. 2B HER o
The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group ZEFBREERERE - A& H
generally allows related companies an average credit period of —RETEELRFHIEEH30H
30 days and the amounts for both years were aged less than RZAERAREFENERRSD DN
30 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the balances 300 - RIEHIR - A FHEAUE
were neither impaired nor past due. The credit period granted WEXESH FERRLETZEE
by a substantial shareholder is 30 days and the amount was HR308 Rz IBRE L MR308 ©
aged less than 30 days.
The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance FERBERAR KRB ENIHIET
due to Jiangsu Chemical. The amounts are unsecured, interest- ME S ZEBHEERR - 2
free, with average credit period of 30 days and were aged less B FHEEH30ARER N30
than 30 days. =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22. XRBIBITERRRITHEER

BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group did not hold any restricted
bank deposits (31 March 2012: HK$972,000). The amount
represented monies placed with the PRC government to secure
for certain commercial purposes which expired in the current
period.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.50% per annum at 31 March 2012. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 3.05% (31 March
2012:0.01% to 1.49%) per annum.

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set

Sk

BAEBRRAS DEREERAN
B REEEHEAEARUANE
BRTER -

B2012F 128318 REET &
FAXBHIRITFH(20125F3 A31
H :972,00087L) - XBHIRITF
REFHRAPEBNERE TR
EMRFES  MZREHD KA
FEI?E?%"

MR2012F3 31BN R $IEIT
GRMABEMBEBEEL0S50% ° MiR
TEHWNEMSEFEER001%E
3.05%(2012%F3HA31H : 0.01% =
1.49%) o

VHNEREEERIEEEHE
HSRITHRF I T

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20125 20124
12A31H 3HA31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET

out below:
HK$ BT
us$ ETT

62,566 129,958
7,211 13,788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. ENESZ R HEAMERK

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

201245 20124

12A31H 3H31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHEIT

Trade and bills payables ENEZEANER 2,034,083 2,454,913

Construction fee payable JEfT T2 K 605,048 286,405

Dividend payable e AR B 234,481 —

Accruals et & A 167,950 160,614

Receipt in advance TEdFRIA 156,797 132,120

Other payables H & T 5KIB 110,968 93,235

3,309,327 3,127,287

notes: 5L

(i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) BH5RE 2 FHRKRAHE30E1208 1

o TRANMENRREZTAG 2/
R R E R BRER DA

120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20126 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Aged: BRie
Less than 30 days LFA30H 887,187 893,370
31-60 days 31—60H E7AREL] 668,137
61-90 days 61—90H 385,549 583,127
91-120 days 91—120H 363,093 292,963
Over 120 days 1208 E 27,116 17,316
2,034,083 2,454,913

WIFAEREEEREEETENE
NEZREMEBETNT :

(ii) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (ii)
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

20124 20124

128318 3A318H

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Us$ ESM 1,342,287 2,140,587
HK$ BT — 370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHmRME (F)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

24. BANK BORROWINGS

The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured,

24.

RITEE

AEBZRTEE(2HFORER

e

31 December
2012

2012%F
12A31H
HK$'000
THERT

comprised:
Bank loans RITER
Bank import loans RITHOBE R

8,599,451
474,056

9,073,507

The bank borrowings are repayable
as follows:

Within one year

More than one year, but not exceeding
two years

More than two years, but not exceeding
five years

RITEENEFTHROT

1R
BB1FEBEDR2E

HEiB2FEIRSF

2,358,050

2,406,362

2,802,639

Carrying amount of bank loans that
are repayable within one year from
the end of the reporting period but
contain a repayment on demand
clause

NSSN

P51

AN TS R RE BER

TEREREHAREKX

B

R ZIRITEFRREE

7,567,051

1,506,456

Less: Amount due within one year

shown under current liabilities

B ARINARBDEEMFRI

HISRIR

9,073,507

(3.864,506)

Amount due after one year

ExELES

5,209,001

31 March
2012
20124
3A31H
HK$'000
FAET
8,895,198
664,115

9,559,313

1,390,545

1,572,878

5,090,917

8,054,340

1,504,973

9,559,313

(2,895,518)

6,663,795

BERAR AR 2012 F£3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

24. BANK BORROWINGS (conminuED)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

All the above bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from
Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 0.95% to HIBOR plus
2.55% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 0.95% to LIBOR
plus 2.55% (31 March 2012: ranging from HIBOR plus 1.10% to HIBOR
plus 2.95% or LIBOR plus 2.55% to LIBOR plus 5.00%) per annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

24.

RITEE#E)

(i) FHFAERTEREYRZEER  F
EXHBEABRITRAEFREMN0I5% E
2.55% M BIRITREFEN0.95% F
2.55% & (20129F3 8318 : FER
TRZEFRBMIN0%E2.95% & SR
SRITEZEREN2.55%E5.00% %) °

A BT 2 BRI R MR TR
m

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

20124 20124
12A31H 3HA31H

Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

2.12% 221%

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other

(iy WA FHEEEERDEEBELAR
SEFITEENT

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

20125 20124
128311 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx TET

than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

us$ eV

HK$ BT

1,753,935 1,493,917
695,000 870,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. fTHEEmI A

Current Non-current
i) *RE

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2012 2012 2012 2012
2012% 2012% 2012% 20124
12A31H 3A31H 12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER Tix THERT Tir

Derivative financial liabilities fESRER

- net settlement -BERW
Interest rate swaps (note i) Fil s B (F i)
Foreign currency forward contracts MNEEBRAY

(note i) (Fzxin)
Derivative financial assets fESREE

- net settlement -BERW

Foreign currency forward contracts ~ SM&EEIA L)

(note i) (H3EiD)
notes: B aE
(i) Interest rate swaps (i) FREH
No interest rate swaps contract was outstanding as at 31 December 2012. R2012F 12 A3MB U ERFTLE 2 FI =
BHEL -
Major terms of the interest rate swaps contracts outstanding as at 31 M2012F3 A31H MARTTHE 2 F == 8
March 2012 are as follows: SR EZHEREIAT
Notional amount Interest rate swap
WeeHE FZ=EH
3 contracts with amortising principal sum of From 4.65% to 5.50%
HK$580,000,000 as at 31 March 2012
M201263A318 3R EHNERASEH H4.65%%5.50%
580,000,000/ 7T
The above contracts matured in September 2012. it EHER2012F9 A H® °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued)
(i) Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at

31 December 2012 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ]

25. fTEEm I A (&)

=
2

()

(i) INEERHEY

MR2012F 12 A3 B R RHEINBEERE
2 EZEFRNAT ¢

Currency conversion

BEXEn

4 contracts to buy Great British Pound (“GBP")
8,090,000 in total
A& %5 8,090,000 85 ([ HEE )

9 contracts to buy Euro (“EUR") 27,770,000 in total
9N A #IF£E27,770,0008 T (BT )

1 contract to buy EUR2,099,634 in total
1 & #HE2,099,634B T

6 contracts to buy US$63,583,064 in total
610 & KL H 63,583,064 7T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at

31 March 2012 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ]

GBP1: HK$12.2892-12.5752
15 855412.2892%12.5752/8 T

EURT: HK$9.8832-10.2438
18T 5£9.8832%E10.2438/8 7T

EURT: US$1.297
1T 51.297% 7T

US$1: HK$7.7504-7.7515
1370 57.7504%7.75157%7C

M20126F3A31THARTHEINERBEL
ZEBERWET ¢

Currency conversion

BEHEn

2 contracts to buy GBP3,820,000 in total
21 & #1#£ 53,820,000

1 contract to buy US$11,010,000 in total
13 & #H£E11,010,000% T

The above contracts will mature within six months (31 March 2012: one
to two months) after the end of the reporting period.

GBP1:US$1.5720t0 1.5752
15845 5,1.5720% 1.57523% 7T

US$1: HK$7.7563
13EILH.7.75638 T

A& DS mmEARECEA (2012
F3A318 - 1ZE2MEAR)AEIE -

(ii)  The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were (i) FASTESBMIAZ AREBETIREFER

calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable
yield curves of interest rates and forward foreign exchange rates.

EHIMNEER 2 B A ERAAR - RITRE
EREBOMARELEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. EHEBLIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFECHREERBBAGR
and movement thereon during the current and prior period/ BITRBEHE FEZEH -
year:
Undistributed
Earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax  subsidiaries
depreciation [ B
hn 3R B 18 AR Z Total
TE RKIEEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2011 2011F4731H 356,218 4,145 360,363
Change in tax rate of certain T ER R X
subsidiaries (note iii) (B siii) (14,816) — (14,816)
Charge to profit or loss sFAEZE 127,454 — 127,454
At 31 March 2012 201293 H31H 468,856 4,145 473,001
Charge to profit or loss FFABE 67,682 — 67,682
At 31 December 2012 2012912 A31H 536,538 4,145 540,683
notes: Bt

U]

(ii)

(iif)

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$46,000,000 (31 March 2012: HK$31,000,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such losses for both years due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. As at 31 December 2012, tax losses of approximately
HK$46,000,000 (31 March 2012: HK$31,000,000) from the PRC
subsidiaries will expire at various dates up to and including 2017 (31
March 2012: 2017).

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out of profit
earned by entities established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards is
subject to withholding tax at 10%. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong and holding at least 25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a
preferential rate of 5% can be applied. The Group has not provided for
deferred tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of its
PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the Company is able to
control the timing of the distribution by its subsidiaries such that no
withholding tax will be payable in the foreseeable future. As at the end of
the reporting period, the deferred tax liabilities in relation to the
undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which have not been
recognised were approximately HK$117 million (31 March 2012:
approximately HK$89 million).

The tax rates of certain subsidiaries were changed when these subsidiaries
became entitled to concessionary tax rates pursuant to relevant incentive
tax rules as detailed in note 9.

(i)

(if)

(iii)

R2012% 128310 » AEEH A H
BAAEENARBRZHEBEREY
446,000,000/ 7L (201243 A318 -
31,000,000/ 7T ) © AR EIATERT KRR
BFRIR - MEFEILRREZSEIER
RABELERIBEE - 12012412 A31
A BiEE1E4946,000,000/87£(2012
3 A31H :31,000,00087T) K& F
ENBARYEREZELBIE2017F
(20124638318 : 2017%F) 2 Z@AF
R HEARHE -

RIFMEFRBHEL - B2008F1A1H
B RRPEEMAINEEBOHAT
FIRETFEINEEE  AHIBEHH
10% ° BBZMA L ERFEAFFE
BL25%EFNIREE HEEERE
5% o R EFABE A A A 0] % 6l Z K
BARETRMN ZER - BRI RO
RAGHREIND - WAEEEFGEHE P
EHERRAEEADERFFTIRIETER
HEERE  RNBESHR  RPREWE
R AR D B B FAE B T AR FER B IR TR
EHEEBEHNENTAESEETL(2012F3 A4
318 : HI89EEBTT) °

ETHBARZHENEZBBEBRG
BEERRFEEEREXKEE - F156
RHIFES ©

BERAR AR 2012 F£3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group is @ member of a defined benefit plan which
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong
Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd. (“Fortune Star”) which is beneficially owned
and controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director
and the controlling shareholder of the Company. In
December 2000, all the existing members of the defined
benefit plan were enrolled into a MPF Scheme and their
accrued benefits for the past services under the defined
benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November 2000. The
defined benefit plan was closed to new employees from
December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by
the number of pensionable service years up to 30
November 2000 on attainment of a retirement age of 55.
No further details are presented for the defined benefit
plan as the directors considered the defined benefit asset

is insignificant to the Group.

27. RKBRIFTE

(i)

REBEEMRANTE

REMZEE
REBZE—@REFEF S
B B B - % & &l & Fortune
Star Tradings Ltd ( [ Fortune
Star] )R - HAKENE SR
MEBARZAERKEBSMA-
FortuneStarMEm ¥ B A B
RATEERIERBRRFIER
g o R20006 128 - ARE
FETEIERMAKEEARE
A E—IEREeEE - MK
EHERTEN=FTE A BTR
% P15 89 2 5148 A 72 2000 5
11 A30 B # R4 - B 20004
1278 - AENRTETHIE
HTHEERE -

BERENZTE - BENF
[ 55 5% 3R K 2 & R 1] & BLAY
R4 FIAE 5 5 B R 2000
1MA BN ZREHFSHN0%E
100% 15 » FRIAE Z20004F
11 A30H IEMEEHRIN S 8 AR
BEE - HREERRBATEN
REEHAEBEMTEE
Eit g B —F 23R EN =
HE L=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M |KRMEE (&)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminueD)

(i)

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group also operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
(up to 31 May 2012) and HK$1,250 (starting from 1 June
2012) or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by

employees.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

RINERIETE ()
(i) HEBEEMROTEE)

REMHAKEE
REBNAMBGERERR
N —IERE S o AT EIN
EEHASEEMNEES AR
B URBAGTEABTENE
o AEEIZ1,0008 L(ER
201295A31H) X1,250%8 7T
(H2012F6 A1 BRB)HAE
A # %$MS%-uFﬁ%
B FIRE S S
BB ZHR—5 -

(i) BPEREEMRTE

TENBEAREANEESS
HEAEBFERNBEREER
REHMEtE - PEMERQF
AmEEFHFENETAESL
AR KA M ET B K - (F AR
M2 A - A B R KR E
g —BEREFELEEHR

o

s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
TEREE x|
HK$'000
FAET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each at R2011F4A18 -
1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2012938318 R
31 December 2012 2012128318
FR0.025/8 TR L AR 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each at R201154R18 -
1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2012F3831BR
31 December 2012 20129128318
FH%0.0258 TR L@ AR 4,689,622,980 117,241
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREZNARS
Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the RIBEAR QB BRERN2003F9 A 11
Company dated 11 September 2003, a share option scheme HRBANEEARE  BRES

was approved and adopted (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the
Scheme. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any director (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
and employees of the Group in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group may be determined by
the Board from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

([&z&T &I ) R R BRAR -

BRUZAEETERHRETEER
EEBAT - ZETEMNARBAER
MBHREET10F - R 2013F9A
108 & °

REZTE  EFSATHRBER
ERBBEETOASRENEIMNE
F(BRATES FRTESFIE
VHRATER) RRAKER A ER
MRRHZABNMBRARZAS
EEE : H(DAREEAKE AT
MEMER  BXEM - D#HE -
EER - HER - KEAFF
XBBH HEABRRGHER
(AIREFEETHETE)  URBA
RE R (TR 1) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNR5Z (&)

(CONTINUED)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

Bz BRENENF LR BB
28HEEMR - IRIBERER ST
RIFERRERT S MM RGO EE - £
ARENEESEAQA S BITRA
10% ° B 3EAR #E £ T 4R B 89 48 & BR
BARRBREMHE - TRMEMA A
TEEA121E A H R AR A B
AP ROBROE=EE - T8
w1 2@ A BEER®BIBARF
EEITRMHM1% °

BEREATNE=ZEEETNHRE(E2R
BRETEMLAFENKREMR
(A )) 17 (% B i A BB R
HITHHE T SBEI0F) - KT
AXTMBTERBRERBREN
RES  BRERIEHAEL IR
NREBERTEL - TEEESER
MHEEE ()P EE  ()RHD
RELASEBIME R RERM
RERTE - R(iR O ERER D
BHAAELSXAEBMIME AR
EBRAREFHRHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNR5Z (&)

(CONTINUED)

The following table discloses details of the Company’s options TREZRMNES(BREES)FE

granted under the Scheme held by employees (including BEZAEEZLO AR ERES

directors) and movement in such holdings during the period: EREHE
Number of share options
EREHA
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Exercised  Outstanding Exercised at
price at during at during 31 December

Category Date of grant HK$ 1 April 2011 the year 31 March 2012 the period 2012

AVIRES 20128 20128
1@ 4518 £ 3A31A il 125318
ghl RitiAH B MR ik HARITHR it HARITHRE

Directors 5 September 2008

B2 200859A5R 1.872 66,666,668 — 66,666,668 — 66,666,668

Exercisable at the end

of the period

REAATTEHE 66,666,668 66,666,668

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be exercised in M2008F 9 ASH KX H 2 BARER

accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as to: EETEI TSR ITEWMT -

(i)  upto 66,666,668 of the options exercisable commencing (i) H20094F9H1HZE201348A
1 September 2009 to 31 August 2013, with vesting 31 H A[ 1T & % 66,666,668
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2009, the f& By B IR R N M 1T 2 A
fair value of each option at the date of grant is 20084 9 A5HZE2009%F 8 A
approximately HK$0.4075; 310 BREREEREBEE

HZ R {ER)/0.40758 7T

(i) up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable (iiy MH2010F9A1HZE201348A
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August 2013, with 31BA[171¥ /&% 133,333,332
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August A% HY BE A% R & M E 77 (F HR i
2010, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is 20089 A5HE201048 A
approximately HK$0.48; and 318 - FREREEREAE

HZAAEHF0.48ET &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNR5Z (&)

(CONTINUED)

(i) up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable (i) H2011F9A1HZE201348A
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013, with 31 AR {7 5& % 200,000,000
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August Mw s REAETE @B
2011, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is 20089 H5H 201148 A
approximately HK$0.5325, of which, 133,333,332 of 310 - EREBRELREARE
options were exercised during the year ended 31 March AZARBEHR0.5325FTT -
2011, E 133,333,332 EBREE

R2011F3A31BIEFET
i o

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods E2009F9H 1H#EZE201348H31

described in (i), (ii) and (iii) above, commencing from 1 B IER Bt i T BA T LA (i) - (i)

September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to R (i) BAER - REBAREERD

achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets for BIELZE20094F ~ 20104 K% 201143

the Group for each of the years ended 31 March 2009, 2010 AMBLEEEF EEREER

and 2011, respectively. MBI -

No share-based payment expense was recognised for the HZE2012F12A31HIEHARER

period ended 31 December 2012 (Year ended 31 March 2012: EENERERAR(EE20124F3

HK$6,112,000). A31BIEFE 6,112,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

30. EXEERE

AEBEREEERNUAERAEED
ERURERLERY  WEBKE
EXRAELAARERAARESR
BEE o AEENEBRRERE
EFE e

AEENEAZEERER B
BRBTEEUARARFARSERFA
AEEEZ(BREDBETRARZ A
)

ARREETHRIENER - 1F
BEEHN N EEHEEEN
RARAREZEREARAORR -
REESFNEZ  A5EG BB
B - FITHREBEBRG KR
BOHENERREFHHEERE:
AEERE -

371. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 @MI A
(i) Categories of financial instruments (i) EHMIEEH
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
201245 20124
12H31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Fair value through profit or loss BAREAERZ
— derivative financial instruments —PTEeE T A 5,084 867
Loans and receivables (including BEXRERTUE(BIERS
cash and cash equivalents) LESEEY) 4,807,271 5,351,987
Financial liabilities tREE
Fair value through profit or loss RAREFTABZE
— derivative financial instruments — TSR ITE 561 9,434
Amortised cost b= =N N 11,830,137 12,529,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD) 31. @M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEORBEEK

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to
a JCE, trade and other receivables, amounts due from (to)
related companies, derivative financial instruments,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, amount due to a substantial
shareholder, and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures

are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEENTIEZEERMTABEH
FZEHEREER EBEEFR
HAMARR - BR(S)BEERT
KB TESRTE - ZRH
RITFER - |RITEHRERE
RNE S REMERR - BAE
ERRFARBITEER - 28
TEAMFBERAMMERE -
HZETRTAEHEMNERE
mEmiERR(EEER R X
B EFEERBEABER
[\ f o andAl A A 5% R B O IR
REHNMT - EREEERE
EZERR - AR EEAR
HWERAEENERE -

Market risk T35 A kg
(a)  Currency risk (a) E¥E
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which REBEBFEINERS K%

expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitor other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.

B 7B A NS IE R B E) 5] A
miSER - BT REENER
% REERETERIER
SR EMAR - BEE
HEDEREMINE R - I
ZRRLBRERHTTA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)  Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's significant
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding
intercompany balances and derivative financial
instruments, that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant

group entities at the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets (note):

31. EM I BE#)

(ii)

HK$ BT
us$ e

Monetary liabilities (note):

HK$ BT
us$ ET

note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of
which the exchange exposure is not significant.

MBEREEENRBE
(&)

g R ()

(a) EXER(E)
REELIFEARHEEEE
BUREEBECETESR
BEEMRERAB(AM
REEREITEEBRTA
BRI RREELN T

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

2012%F 20124F
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET
308,697 375,997
24,355 22,129

B¥AaE(ME)

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20125 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
701,378 877,996
134,517 51,317

it LSRR EARER
HRNEEBRETL/E
LT ELE R - |
PBTTEIRITTHE - Et
W 8 EAOE R R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(a)  Currency risk (Continuea)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in

foreign currencies are as follows:

31. EM I BE#)

(ii)

Assets BE
uUs$ VI
HK$ BT
RMB AR
Liabilities =i
uss$ ET
HK$ BT

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of
HK$ and US$ against RMB.

BREREERNREE

(&)

EE1ETAE )
(a) EEER(E)

BESN - ASNE SHE 2 B

NAEREHOT -
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20124 20124
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,394,355 1,886,439
233,601 239,077
48,366 45,803
1,394,355 1,886,439
385,308 412,669
BRRE DI
AEBFTEmMHE BT LE

TTHARBHREBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

1. EMIE®)
BSEREE B N REGK

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (ii)

policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) il %J—L R (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continuecd)) (a) EEmE(E)
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Sensitivity analysis (Continuea)

The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (31 March 2012: 5%) increase and decrease
in the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies to
the extent that the exposures have not been
hedged. 5% (31 March 2012: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items (including intercompany balances

BRRE DI (&)
TR FF AN B 1 4 i
#H PEEIR T 0 MBS
BERBZHEEELH
HEMNE EA R TRE5%
(20123 A31H : 5%)
HIBRE 5% (20124
3831H :5%) AR
FTEEE A BERINER
SR B BE LK
%*ﬁﬁﬁ%%E?mA
B A REE B E HH MRS -
BRE DI R B IE AINE
STENREMNEEIESR

denominated in foreign currencies) and derivative (BIENIINEFEEZ R
financial instruments and adjusts their translation NEER) RITESR I
or fair value in the case of the derivative financial B WR#EFEHFAERER
instruments at the year ended for a 5% change in CRYN @ (MARTTES
foreign currency rates. On this basis, there will be BMITHR) URBINEE

an increase/decrease in post-tax profit where the EH)5%EH o EJ:?;%
functional currency of the relevant group entities —E—l— EHBAEEER
strengthens against the foreign currencies by 5%, 2 I g% féf BHEINEHRE
and vice versa. 5% * BiBEAFIEEM

B RZINR °

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit

RERFIEMCORLD)
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
BZE HE
201245 20124
1283181t 3A31HIE
98 B FE
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTET FET
HK$ BT 23,137 28,675
us$ e 4,691 1,267

No sensitivity analysis for foreign currency forward
contracts has been presented as for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012.

HE2012F12A318 1t
9ffl Az INE RIS H&
RREDITALEZS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from
bank balances are insignificant.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group entered into certain interest rate swaps
to partially hedge against its exposures to variable
interest-rate of bank borrowings in prior years. The
Group considers that the interest rate of bank
borrowings is relatively stable and so no interest
rate swap was used to hedge the exposure to
interest rate risk in current period. The
management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

31. EM I BE#)

(i) BERREEBNREE

(&)

EE1ETAE )

(b)

P& E R
REERITHERIIES -
HRBITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
K o AT - AEER
RZIRITHEBR IR
By - BYEIRITA ARSI
MERBHRBSREN X
R TERX -

AEBNAAZEHTR
RITEENRSREN X
Rk - REREREN X
R E&E  NEEE
BEFETLE TR
HIARRITEENZER
BOETTERE D ¥ - AEE
RB|ITEEN N EAY
RBIE - FTAAEBARE A
) 2R 4 HY 3 0o ) R L g
EEEEAENERAREER
LREERERHGERY TE
REVF) @R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continueq)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$9,073,507,000 (31 March 2012:
HK$9,559,313,000), if interest rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the nine months ended 31 December 2012 after
taking into account the capitalisation of borrowing
costs using the capitalisation rate of 4% would
decrease/increase by HK$17,296,000 (31 March
2012: decrease/increase by HK$23,540,000).

No sensitivity analysis for interest rate swap has
been presented as for the financial year ended 31
March 2012.

31. EM I BE#)

(ii)

BREREERNREE
(4%&)

EE1ETAE )

(b)

FE R (E)

BRE D

T BURE DT RIER
RERFTETAMNAX
RBREE - L7 SRITHE
& E%EEELIEHE
M TR - D TR
RBERRREFEER
EEHR/RENTHARE -
50 & B 0 skom D S Y
WA EZEEA B ERH
TR RA SR EL
X REEBRNENSG
T RE B AT o

B A& 2 9,073,507,000
L (2012438318 -
9,559,313,0008 7T ) 2
FERITEEMS « WA
K EF, TFBRSOEE
T 7 E 2 E T
2 KEEEHZE2012F
128318 1E9E B MF R
B 48 5t KA E AN F)
KA%HE 2 ERLEE
AR - iR N
17,296,000 7% 7T ( 2011
F3A318 5w
23,540,000/ 7T) °

HZE201263A318 1k
FEZFRiBHE LB
AWM ELY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD) 31. M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is
considered minimal.

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a JCE. Because the Group’'s involvement in the
management of JCE, the Group is in a position to
monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan
to JCE is low.

(i)

PSR EEE N RBE
(&)

EERR
MR2012F12A31H » A5 HE
EEF 5 REBITETMBE
MBEANEREERRKE
FaMBARAREIN S H®
REeMEENKRAE -

AREEREEERR  AKH
EEEEZE-HABEER
ER#E FEEHUAREME
2R o MR EE B E R
REERAETTE - U AEH
EREEERBEHRENEE
AERHZ AW EESEE - AR
B X W O & BEHE R R SRUE
EBE -t EFRRAEE
ZEERBERKRED

HRR T RIEEFRRY
ZRIT - BMRBEEZEER
RABR -

AEERNEYE S ERRBIEKR
BEF  BEZETERME
@i o Hith  NREBEEFEE
RS

BRTEEZEBHNEERR
S AEERARZENERE
REFEETEERAR -BAR
AEE2EARZEHERNE
B ASESEETEHE
B AL E I A SREX K R 1T B A
REHREENRHHEEK -
Hit > EEEREASEES
THRAZHERERSIENE
EmEBEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31.

134

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’'s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.
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(i)

1. EMIE®)

MEREEENRBE
(#)

mEE TR
RERRBDEZRRME - &
SEERLAKEBRENAS
AEBEEERHTES - UERE
RBERERDTELHAER
BeSBYKE -

TN 5K R A K U AR 155 TE SE SR AR
AEETREBENBRTANE
%Eo%#ﬁi%ﬂ%%ﬁ

C PRDBREAREAEER
ﬁiE%DEZ%ﬂE%*%
RASREFL - ABWE -
W R RE RGN ZRITE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 22012412431 H1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEORBEEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEcRR(E)
Liquidity tables MEE 2K
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2012
S g 120125
BERAE EZRERD 3f8A HeRE 12A318
MEFHH SI{ER EE] LSS 1256 EH ZRAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAk Tx TET TR TiEn T#x TET
31 December 2012 2012%12R31A
Non-derivative financial 3T &BEAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B E 5 R Eft
- current —iRg 1,701,271 676,197 372,641 2,750,109 2,750,109
Amount due to a EREERR
substantial shareholder FE 6,378 6,378 6,378
Amounts due to related  FEFFBEE N F
companies FE 143 143 143
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate -38 . 1,625,230 387,806 2,006,292 5,344,633 9,363,961 9,073,507
3,333,022 1,064,003 2,378,933 5,344,633 12,120,591 11,830,137
Derivatives fETR
- net settlement -BERNR
Foreign exchange forward ~ SMNEiREIA 4)
contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEERBEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEcRR(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TENE DT (&)
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2012
AR R2012F
ERFIE EERERL @A HeRE 124318
nEFHE SMEA 123087 Z1F 1255 At ZEmE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B THT TET THEL TAL TEL TEL

31 March 2012 2012%3A31A8
Non-derivative FTESRBARE

financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  fEf & 5 k£

- current —-RE — 1,256,002 1,173,978 533,016 3 2,962,999 2,962,999
Amount due to a EHEERR
substantial shareholder B — 7,626 — — — 7,626 7,626
Bank borrowings BIEE
- variable rate %8 2.21 1,574,055 733,518 644,139 6,983,178 9,934,890 9,559,313
2,837,683 1,907,496 1,177,155 6,983,181 12,905,515 12,529,938
Derivatives fTETA
- net settlement -FERK
Interest rate swaps & 1 476 — 6,398 3,186 — 9,584 9,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD) 31. @M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEERBEK

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2012 and 31 March 2012, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts and carrying amounts of
these bank loans amounted to HK$1,506,456,000 and
HK$1,504,973,000 respectively. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the directors do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid
after the reporting date in accordance with the following
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements:

Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause
based on scheduled repayments:

(&)

MENE ¢ Rk (&)

B 5 1 22 SIOR B R SR1T 1B
B LB A 5 Er Al E
ERERSIDR—EA 25
Mo KR2012F 12 8318 &
20123 A318 » 81T
ERzAFEAS REEBER
¥ B A& 1,506,456,00078 7T
. 1,504,973,000 T - & &
FIAREE BN - EEE
7 BRITTKATRETERE
o ERAEENRER - &
EHE - ZEFRITEEBHRAE
MEBBMzEREERBEM
BB EEKBBEZRNT

Weighted

average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1year cash flows amount

BEA= 3fEA AR
ETH SIMER 123(8A 21E  REREst fREE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
B TERL TR TERT TR TERT
As at 31 December 2012 M2012612A318 2.12 1,471,510 8,063 30,274 1,509,847 1,506,456
As at 31 March 2012 #201243A318 2.21 850,520 417,992 269,722 1,538,234 1,504,973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)
(iii) Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

° the fair values of derivative financial instruments
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the applicable yield curves of interest
rates and forward foreign exchange rates.

o the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments)
are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

31. EM I BE#)
(i) 2RE

TREERERABZAAE
BIATHAERE

e THESBMIAZARMETD
RIBH R [ iR B 51 S FE =
ZiEM B R R IR
ReREDWERE -

e TREEREBMABCT
BEMEERTIA)ZA
RERBAREBENZ
FRBSREDNETE °

ESRRBBHERARGAY
BHRACRICREERDR
BECEEEREAAEMN

4+

Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)
(iii) Fair value (Continued) (iii) A2REE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the EMBRARERZ R AES
statement of financial position 2
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREIRVEERBEARR
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial BifEze@MIT AN - RR
recognition at fair value, all of which are grouped into HARBEATEHEZEESD
Level 2 based on the degree to which the fair value is BREAE &
observable.
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
2012%F 20124
12A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$’'000
THERT FHET
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFTABRZ
through profit or loss TREE
Derivative financial instruments THEEmIA 867
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAREFAEREZ
through profit or loss ==
Derivative financial instruments TTHEemIA 9,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31. @MIT A #)
(iii) Fair value (Continued) (iii) DAREE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the EFBRRRERZ AN ER
statement of financial position (Continued) 2(#&)
—  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived - E-RAnEEENE
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market JE BT S AR R & B Sk
for identical assets or liabilities. BERSZHRECRESR

B)EITZHE -

-~ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived - BIRAREFEEUE
from inputs other than quoted prices included —BABEZWEUINZ
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or MWEENEEIBEREH
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (EmEEE(AER)K
(i.e. derived from prices). (B EREE))#E

TZ&E -

—  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived - EZRAREEEER
from valuation techniques that include inputs for ERAWIEERAIBRTS
the asset or liability that are not based on BRZEEXNEEEH
observable market data (unobservable inputs). (TABR & H) 21h

BEBREETZEE °
There were no transfer between the 3 levels during the BN - = ERRI R o
period.
32. OPERATING LEASES 32. BEHED
The Group as lessee EBEEREBEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had R E R - REERE S
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- BT REFEEHONBEERN
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings, MEEESHT

which fall due as follows:

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

20125 20124

12A831H 3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Within one year 15K 8,536 4,665
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE2ERESFER 8,577 1,084

17,113 5,749
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

32. OPERATING LEASES (conminueD)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For
leasehold lands, leases are negotiated for terms ranged from
one year to five years with fixed rentals. For office properties,
leases are negotiated for terms ranged from 6 months to 1 year

with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

Rental income of office spaces in the PRC during the period
ended 31 December 2012 was HK$1,426,000 (31 March 2012:
HK$1,175,000) from a related party, Jiangsu Chemical (see

note 35(i)). Leases are fixed for an average term of two years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

32.

REMNE)
SEEREBAE)

REHSEASER LW REET
MAEMERMNOHES - HELH
REDHEBEIFEF > HINES
TE& - MAEMERLEHERENH6E
AE1% HABEESTE -

SEEREHEA

REZE2012F12 831 HHREFH
M NS HE S WA AR1,426,000
B (201243 A31H 1,175,000
BIT)  RE—BEALT  IHHT
(RMFE353)) - MHOBERFHM
FHY o

EABEMR  AKECEHBEL
AIRARENNKERESR -

31 December 31 March
2012 2012
20125 20124
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET

15K
FE2EFESFNR

Within one year

In the second to fifth year inclusive

1,892 —
1,892 —

3,784 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EAREIE
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
2012%F 20124
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Capital expenditures contracted for HEFTHERNGATHRESP
but not provided in the consolidated BEEETIEEN
financial statements in respect of BEARRE
acquisition of:
- property, plant and equipment —WE  WEMERE 1,378,090 1,629,568
—land use rights — T AR 150,442 173,937
1,528,532 1,803,505
In addition, at 31 December 2012, the Group had a gEoh » 2012F 128318 - A%
commitment to provide an additional loan of HK$60,410,000 A4 T R 4M60,410,000 %8 7T
(31 March 2012: HK$37,400,000) to its JCE. Details of loan (201293 A31H : 37,400,000/%5
terms disclosed in note 18(iii). TIZERTHEHARZESELE - BEX

{6 TR A I 7E 1 8(ii) ©

34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION 34. BPERSF
For the nine months ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s REE2012F12A3181E9@A -
acquisition of property, plant and equipment was settled AEEEEME BEEREBZ
through transfer of deposits paid in the prior years to the 98,452,000/ (2012434318 :
extent of HK$98,452,000 (31 March 2012: HK$82,024,000). 82,024,000 7T ) It B EF EH

EMFTEEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 35.
DISCLOSURES

During the period, the Group had significant transactions with
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant
transactions with these parties during the period are as follows:

(i) Related and connected party transactions

HENBEALRE

Him - REBESEBBAL(ETAL
IRR B AR R £ AR R AR AR 1E S R &
ALVETERR S - iR - BZF
ATETHERZRZMT :

() HERBEALRS

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2012 2012
KD BHZE
20125 20124
12A3181 3A3181F

Nature of offi B FE
Name of parties transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
BEATEH XHHUE THT THT
LMIML (as defined in note 21) Finished goods sold by the Group
BYEX(ERRNE21) SEEHERN R 68,917 139,437
Income from steam and electricity
REZRKRENZHA 3,434 4,075
Raw materials purchased by the Group
EEBERM 703 2,405
Lee & Man Paper Products Limited (note) ~ Licence fee expenses incurred
BX#HmBRAR () by the Group
SEFARER L 1,750
Jiangsu Chemical (as defined in note 21) Income from steam and electricity
TECT(EERMEE21) REEZRRENZBA 54,948 86,770
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEBERE 3,398 7,312
Rental income
HeBA 1,426 1,175
Nippon Paper (as defined in note 21) Technical assistance fee expenses
AR (TR BME21) by the Group
SERMEREX 17,065

note: The company is indirectly wholly owned by a daughter of Mr Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, a director and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company.

M RRABRRARAERERELER
BRFEREEZZZMEEE
A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
DISCLOSURES (conminuep)

35. HHEEARBEALHEE &)

(i) HEBAREIEALAER
AEEEBBFALRABITAH
BATZREEEHRFROH
S R A BB AR R S MY EE

(ii) Related and connected party balances

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related

parties who are also the connected parties were set out

in the consolidated statement of financial position and 21 o
note 21.

(iii) Compensation of key management (iii) TEEEEREHMH
personnel

E=NHEBTIEEEEKER
HrzMasmT -

The remunerations of the directors and other members of
key management during the period were as follows:

Nine months

ended Year ended

31 December 31 March

2012 2012

8Z S

20125 20124

128318 Lt 3A3181

98 B FE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FAT

Short-term benefits SEEERY 9,199 12,506
Post-employment benefits RIKRER " 34
Share-based payments M 2 (5P SRR = 6,112
18,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHmRME (F)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. RABREEMEB R AFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December AAREEWBAAN2012F12 A
2012 and 31 March 2012 are as follows: 31HX%2012F3A31HHFBEWT :
Nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary HREY/RY/ BRIRARRATE/ held by the Company Principal activities
HWEARER BRREELY ERER ARAREREREELE ITER
Directly Indirectly
E# i3
31 December 31 December 31 March
2012 2012 2012
2125 20125 20126
12A31R 128318 3R31H
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note ) Ordinary shares — US$4 100% = —  Investment holding
HRERHB () BER- 4% RERR

Lee & Man Industries British Virgin lslands (notei) Ordinary share —US$1 100%  Investmentholding
Company Limited EER s () TRk-1%T RERR

Vantage Dragon Limited HongKong Ordinary share —HK$2 100%  Investmentholding

MEBRAT B TRR-2%1 REAR

Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Offshore) Trading Limited bl 12F9%100,0007 materials

HE(EMRFEERKIES RERH
ARAAE

Wang Kei (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100%  Export trading of
Offshore) Trading Limited B #F%100,0007C paper

BE(RFREHERE)ES FHHOES
BRAR

REEESHERAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital — 100%  Manufacturingand
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper P (PieHil) US$156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co Ltd) HHER RHEERES
("Dongguan Lee & Man”) —156,480,000% 7
(&=E1)

EREEAERAA PRC (noteii Registered capital — 100%  Manufacturingand
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper o (FisHil) US$680,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HHER RALERES
("Guangdong Lee & Man”) ~680,000,000% 7
(ExEL)

THEXESERAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital — 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangsu Lee & Man Paper o (Piskil) U5$393,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) HHER RALERES
("fiangsu Lee & Man") —393,000,000% 7
(ImmEx])

SRR ARAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital — 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongaing Lee & Man Paper o (Piskil) U5$420,260,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HHER and pulp
("Chongging Lee & Man") —420,260,000%7 RERAREERE S
(E1-3:54))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the nine months ended 31 December 2012 & 220124124318 1F918 A

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. XABEEMBRARFSE &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuED)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary HMEL/ R/ BRARMRRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
i YRR ERREELY HREL ARTRERERARLA EEE
Directly Indirectly
B 4
31 December 31 December 31 March
2012 2012 2012
2125 2125 20125
12A31A 128318 3R31H
IREEARRAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital — = 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangxi Lee & Man Paper LEIRD) 15$100,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HEx FELERES
~100,000,000%7C
NITHESIREERAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital — 100%  Consulting service
(lujiang Vantage Dragon P (Piekil) HK$2,400,000 BRIk
Consulting Service Limited) HHER
~2,400,000/57T
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$64,478,874 100%  Manufacturingand
Manufacturing Limited HE 64,478 874370 trading of paper
RELERES
notes: BT
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENBEBBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) RERAREFERILZHIEREDR
PRC. E
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINHBESFRREIEFELRE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or ¥ELEERBENARAINE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other DAl BFRR - HNHEMHMER
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AMFBEEANTBRITRE + i
particulars of excessive length. KEFEHZZEER o
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at REIRSIHAEMER - SHEA
the end of the period, or at any time during the period. A EEMREENEREES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

R B B B AR AR

A condensed statement of financial position of the Company as at

31 December 2012 and 31 March 2012 is as follows:

AT AARRATN2012412 8318 %2012
F3A31H 2R EAR R K

31 December 31 March
2012 2012

20125 20124
12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET

Investments in subsidiaries NG R, 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGIE S 8,540,180 8,329,716
Bank balances RITEERR 497 338
Total assets BEHEE 9,178,654 8,968,031
Derivative financial instruments TESRmTA — 9,434
Amount due to a subsidiary AN NG 50,716 278
Other payables JEA E Ath BR FR 240,112 8,955
Unsecured bank borrowings EILMIRITIEE 3,454,096 3,439,888
Total liabilities BEBE 3,744,924 3,458,555

5,433,730 5,509,476
Share capital R& 117,241 117,241
Reserves (note) e (P =E) 5,316,489 5,392,235
Total equity BRES 5,433,730 5,509,476
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RAT B BAARRE (F)

note: B2k -
Reserves #HiE
Share
Share options Hedging Contributed Retained Total
premium reserve reserve surplus profits equity
ROEE  BREEE HihiEE BRRH% BEEF BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2011 2011474818 4,624,592 29,338 (52,361) 634,977 164,981 5,401,527

Net adjustment of hedging reserve WhREETDEAES

reclassified to profit or loss IR — — 52,361 — — 52,361
Profit for the year FERBF — — — — 532,507 532,507
Total comprehensive income FREHEZEY

for the year — — 52,361 — 532,507 584,868

Recognition of equity-settled share  ARZSAEERRAE S (3008

based payments TR — 6,112 — — — 6,112
Dividends recognised as distributions BADRZIEE — — — — (600,272) (600,272)
At 31 March 2012 201293H31H 4,624,592 35,450 — 634,977 97,216 5,392,235
Profit for the period HNEF — — — — 402,595 402,595
Dividends recognised as distributions BADRZEE — — — — (478,341) (478,341)
At 31 December 2012 2012912A31H 4,624,592 35,450 — 634,977 21,470 5,316,489
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Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited

5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393
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